#### University of New Hampshire

# University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository

#### **Faculty Publications**

5-2020

# The Agroecosystem Project at the Organic Dairy Research Farm, University of New Hampshire

John D. Aber University of New Hampshire, john.aber@unh.edu

Matthew M. Smith University of New Hampshire, Matthew.Smith@unh.edu

Allison M. Leach University of New Hampshire, Durham

William H. McDowell University of New Hampshire, bill.mcdowell@unh.edu

Michelle Daley Shattuck University of New Hampshire, michelle.shattuck@unh.edu

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.unh.edu/faculty\_pubs

#### **Recommended Citation**

Aber, J.D., M.M. Smith, A.M. Leach, W.H. McDowell, M.D. Shattuck, N.A. Williamson, D.M. Hoffman and J.M. Davis. 2020. The Agroecosystem Project at the Organic Dairy Research Farm, University of New Hampshire: Summary of Results and Proposals for Applications. University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH, USA

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Faculty Publications by an authorized administrator of University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. For more information, please contact nicole.hentz@unh.edu.

#### Authors

John D. Aber, Matthew M. Smith, Allison M. Leach, William H. McDowell, Michelle Daley Shattuck, Nicole A. Williamson, Dena M. Hoffman, and J. Matthew Davis

# The Agroecosystem Project at the Organic Dairy Research Farm, University of New Hampshire

Summary of Results and Proposals for Applications



John D. Aber, Matthew M. Smith, Allison M. Leach, William H. McDowell, Michelle D. Shattuck, Nicole A. Williamson and Dena M. Hoffman Department of Natural Resources and the Environment J. Matthew Davis – Department of Earth Sciences University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH 03824

#### SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Funding was provided by USDA Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education (SARE) program through grants (LNE11-313 / 38640-30418, and LNE15-344 / 38640-23777), and by the New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station through the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture Hatch Projects 221692 and 233560

# CITATION AND COPYRIGHT INFORMATION

Recommended Citation: Aber, J.D., M.M. Smith, A.M. Leach, W.H. McDowell, M.D. Shattuck, N.A. Williamson, D.M. Hoffman and J.M. Davis. 2020. The Agroecosystem Project at the Organic Dairy Research Farm, University of New Hampshire: Summary of Results and Proposals for Applications. University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH, USA

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED © 2020 Dr. John D. Aber

# AUTHOR CONTACT INFORMATION

John D. Aber, University of New Hampshire, Department of Natural Resources and the Environment, James Hall, Durham, NH 03824 - John.aber@unh.edu

May 2020

# **Table of Contents**

	Page
Prologue. Origin of the Agroecosystem Project at the University of New Hampshire Organic Dairy Research Farm – John Aber	3
Chapter 1. Initial Steps and Preliminary Investigations – John Aber	11
Chapter 2: Current Status of the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm and a Summary of Previously Published Research – Matthew Smith and John Aber	16
Chapter 3 - The Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Compost System at the University of New Hampshire – John Aber and Matthew Smith	w 21
Chapter 4. Estimating Potential Total Energy Gain from a Multi-bay Aerated Static Pile Composting System with Heat Recovery – John Aber, Matthew Smith and Allison Leach	26
Chapter 5: Compost Gas Exhaust from an Aerated Static Pile Heat Recovery Composting System - Allison Leach, Nicole Williamson, Matthew Smith, and John Aber	32
Chapter 6: Designing and Testing a Biofilter for Ammonia Removal at a Commercial-Scale Composting Facility – Nicole Williamson, Allison Leach, Matthew Smith, and John Aber	36
Chapter 7: Waste Management Practices and Water Quality at the UNH Organic Dairy Rese Farm – William H. McDowell, Michelle D. Shattuck, J. Matthew Davis and John Aber	arch 41
Chapter 8: Nitrogen Cycling, Surplus and Use Efficiency at the Organic Dairy Research Far Impacts of Composting - Allison Leach and John Aber	m - 46
Chapter 9: Putting Compost Energy to Work for Sustainable Agriculture: The University of Hampshire as a Case Study - John Aber, Dena Hoffman and Matthew Smith	New 54
Epilogue: Composting and High Tunnels at the University of New Hampshire: A Modest Proposal – John Aber	66
References	71

#### Prologue: Origin of the Agroecosystem Project at the University of New Hampshire Organic Dairy Research Farm – John Aber

## Introduction

"You should apply for this grant." This declaration from Tom Kelly, Director of the Sustainability Institute at the University of New Hampshire (UNH), was one of several key events that led to the research program summarized here. The year was 2007, and I had just come out of 4 years in central administration at UNH. Returning to the faculty, I had not intended to apply for any more research grants.

Tom had a different idea. The opportunity he was promoting was a new call for proposals from the USDA program in Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education (SARE). The call focused on studying agricultural systems as ecosystems, or agroecosystems. With decades of experience studying forest ecosystems, Tom figured it would be "easy" for me to apply the same concepts to agriculture. An intriguing and creative idea – not the first from Tom.

A second key event was the establishment, in 2006, of the first Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF) at a land grant institution. With inspiration from senior faculty member Chuck Schwab, University of Maine Extension Professor Richard Kersbergen and, again, Tom Kelly, UNH, through the NH Agricultural Experiment Station (NHAES), had converted the ~300 acre Burley-Demeritt Farm and Dudley Lot 7 miles from the main campus to an organic dairy. Investments by NHAES in this new facility were crucial to getting it up and running. As a unique facility at a unique Farm, UNH highlighted this new venture, and the birth of its first calf [76].

The establishment of the ODRF led to a cascade of other events that made the research reported here possible. One early opportunity was created by the paucity of research on organic dairy operations at major land grants across the country. Because of this, leaders from the 4 largest organic milk producers in the country, Stonyfield, Organic Valley, Aurora and Horizon, were drawn to the farm, providing both financial assistance and input on the needs of the industry.

Through interactions with personnel from these four producers, the lead investigators on this project had the opportunity to meet with industry reps, and from this to determine the ways in which new information might help sustain the dairy farmers providing milk to the processors, and also reduce the environmental footprint of farm operations. Our focus on bedding, energy and environmental impacts resulted in large part from these meetings.

These events together - the SARE call, the establishment of the ODRF, and interactions with industry experts - created the opportunity to pull colleagues together to look at this whole-farm system as an ecosystem. With Bill McDowell, Matt Davis, Charles Schwab and Kevin Brussel the proposal went in, and was accepted.

#### Structure of the Project and the First Proposal

Starting with the goal of increasing the sustainability of organic dairy operations in the Northeast, and having experience with the concept of nutrient and energy cycles, we began to

consider ways of closing those cycles at the ODRF by retaining as much of the organic matter, carbon and nitrogen capital on-site as possible. The central concept of the proposal as submitted is summarized in Figure P.1.



Figure P.1 – The initial concept for the UNH/SARE Agroecosystem Project. The goal was to move from an isolated dairy with major commodity inputs from the marketplace and pollution outputs to the environment (boundaries noted with dashed lines on diagram to the left) to a system with increasingly closed cycles, including links to woodlands on the site and composting of organic wastes (note the single dashed line on the diagram to the right).

As the ideas for this proposal were being developed, we became aware of an innovative method for composting farm wastes that minimizes environmental impacts, speeds the composting process, and captures "waste" heat for heating farm facilities. A visit to one of the first of these innovative systems at Diamond Hill Custom Heifers in Enosburg Falls, Vermont, provided the inspiration for including this new technology in our SARE proposal. At the facility, we met Brian Jerose of AgriLab Technologies<sup>®</sup>, also in Vermont, who had designed and guided the installation of that system. The process is called Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Composting (ASP/HRC), and out of this visit developed a long-standing collaboration between UNH and AgriLab covering the design of the physical system at UNH and the control and data acquisition systems as well. A description of the ASP/HRC facility built at the ODRF is included in Chapter 3, and information on operations and heat generation and capture in Chapters 4 and 9.

Another relatively new technology that contributed to the final structure of the proposal was a commercial-scale wood shaving machine, essentially an oversized wood planer on a trailer, that could turn whole logs into thin shavings suitable for livestock animal bedding material. Given the preference for wood products for barn bedding among organic dairy operations in New England (as later supported by results of a survey of regional dairy farmers, Chapter 2), and given the prevalence of low quality softwoods on many New England dairy farms, including the ODRF, the prospect of closing the carbon cycle on the farm and reducing bedding costs by converting the softwood resource to bedding became part of our proposal. With support from the NHAES, a wood shaving machine was purchased for the ODRF and this project.

Another very major event in the development of this project, and of the ODRF, was the emergence of an anonymous donor who was fascinated by both the Farm and the Project, and supported almost all of the cost of building the composting facility described in chapter 3. Some of our initial efforts on composting for energy capture, as reported in Chapter 1, were interesting, but not at a scale relevant to commercial operations. This new facility, as the only one of its kind at the only ODRF in the country, provided a unique opportunity of incredible value to the project. At the request of the donor, the facility was generously named for an alternative energy pioneer, Joshua Nelson. The naming event was highlighted by UNH in a press release in 2014 [121].

As these disparate pieces came together, it became possible to describe a research project built on the concept expressed in Figure P.1 that included a number of tangible goals and testable ideas. At an operational and process level, these included internalizing bedding production and composting of wastes (Figure P.2).



Figure P.2 – Graphic presentation of the steps in an integrated system for internalizing energy, carbon and nitrogen cycles at the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm. See text for explanation.

Briefly, we envisioned a system whereby low-quality softwoods from the extensive woodlot at the ODRF were harvested and converted to bedding using the recently acquired wood shaving machine. The shavings would be used as bedding, with the resulting manure bedding mixture composted in the newly constructed ASP/HRC composting system, with the heat generated by the compost captured and used on the farm. Chapter 2 includes references to the results of the bedding work, which has been published in professional and stakeholder outlets. Chapters 3 and 4 describe the building and operation of the ASP/HRC facility, including the amount of energy generated per day.

To address, at least partially, the environmental impacts of farm operations, and especially the composting process, Chapters 5 and 6 present information on emissions of gases from in the compost vapor, and the use of a simple biofilter to trap ammonia. Chapter 7 extends the environmental analysis to include impacts on water quality using data from a set of groundwater

wells and a small creek on the farm property. Chapter 8 brings operational farm data together to construct a nitrogen budget for the property and assess the potential for loss to the environment.

A final conceptual step described in the proposal, but not physically tested, was using the heat and gases generated by the composting facility to enhance production and extend the season in an adjacent greenhouse (Figure P.2). In Chapter 9 we test this final concept by modeling a linkage between an ASP/HRC composting facility and a greenhouse system, using UNH as a case study. In the Epilogue we propose how that physical linkage might be accomplished, again at UNH.

# Another Source of Inspiration – Coming Full Circle

There was one additional, historic source of inspiration for this work, and one that comes full circle with recent sources of support for the ODRF. In the 1970s, John and Nancy Jack Todd, along with others, established the New Alchemy Institute, and constructed the first Ark (Figure P.3). Reflecting many of the values of the time about self-sufficiency and minimizing environmental footprints, including concepts we now include under the aegis of Sustainable Agriculture, The Ark was conceived as a self-contained food production/waste management system that recycled wastes as fertilizer, produced food and drew energy from the sun. The resemblance between The Ark and the system envisioned in Figure P.2 is not coincidental. I was a post-doc at the Marine Biological Laboratory in Woods Hole, Massachusetts in the early '70s, and was aware of, and drew inspiration from New Alchemy that continued into this USDA-SARE project.



Figure P.3 – Image and conceptual diagram of the original New Alchemy Ark on Cape Cod in Massachusetts [6].

Among the early contributors to the work of New Alchemy were Gary Hirshberg and Bruce Fulford. Both prepared reports on alternative energy and agriculture systems [35, 45, 46], and when our USDA-SARE project began, the only reference on compost-heated greenhouses in the USDA database was a report by Gary Hirshberg out of New Alchemy (a useful set of references

can be found in [26]). To close this historical circle, Bruce Fulford now operates City Soil, a composting operation in Boston, has been a long-time advocate for composting, and also served as a member of the Ph.D. thesis committee for Matt Smith at UNH. Gary Hirshberg went on to become a founder and CEO of Stonyfield Yogurt. Both he and Stonyfield were strong initial supporters of the Organic Dairy Research Farm at UNH, providing both financial and technical support. At the ceremony announcing the establishment of the ODRF, Gary Hirshberg said, "This could not come at a better time, as the organic dairy market in general and New England in particular are in need of more organic farmers. We believe organic dairy farming has the promise of saving New Hampshire and New England family farmers." [75]

#### Acknowledgements

Serendipity played an important role in being able to bring the agroecosystem concept to life at the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm, but the fortunate confluence of events was helped along at each step by many good people who supported and advanced the work.

One of the most rewarding parts of working with the SARE program on this project was the wonderfully creative and innovative approach to agricultural research taken by the Board of the Program, and those managing the program, especially Vern Grubinger, Director of the Program, David Holm, who was our primary program manager throughout the life of the grant, and Kathleen Newkirk who joined with David on annual site visits and provided important feedback from her experiences working with both forest and agricultural systems. Presentations to the Board and managers were always open events with wonderful give and take of ideas. Everyone involved on the USDA side seemed to assume that innovative approaches were to be expected. The questions were often about "what is next" based on the most recent results, and always with an eye to implementation for the benefit of farmers.

Another important component leading to the success of our research program, to the extent evidenced by this report and previous papers, was the extended timeline of the grant. Recognizing that ecosystem-level research takes time, the SARE Board and Management defined the grant to be funded as a series of three, 3-year increments, assuming good progress toward proposed goals in each 3-year period. Completing the multiple goals of the proposal, and especially working through the logistics of construction and testing of major facilities, made the extended time frame essential.

The list of people at UNH who contributed to this project is almost too long to enumerate (Table P.1). While it could be argued that all of these folks were just doing their jobs, conflicting priorities and resource scarcity at universities always require that choices be made. Each person in the table helped to make this project possible.

While physical and administrative resources at a Land Grant University are essential to carrying out the kind of project reported here, perhaps the most valuable resource is the pool of energy and enthusiasm and ability represented by students. Some of the stories about student involvement are presented in Chapter 1, and all those involved in the work are included in Table P.1.

Table P.1 List of Participants in and Supporters of the UNH Agroecosystem Project
Lead Investigators John Aber, Bill McDowell, Matt Davis, Charles Schwab, Kevin Brussel
Graduate Students Ph.D.: Matthew Smith, Allison Leach, Masters: Ashley Green, Catherine Dunlap, Michelle Galvin, Charles Simms, Jennifer Campbell, Shan Zuidema
Undergraduate Students Honors and Capstone Projects: Nichole Williamson, Dena Hoffman, Gabriel Perkins, Amy Lamb
Presenters at the Undergraduate Research Conference: Margaret Phillips, Brian Godbois, Makenzie Benander, Paul Pellissier, Bella Oleksy, Jacki Amante, Bryan Vangel, Alyssa Reid, Joshua Cain, Spencer Tate, Elizabeth Harvey, Andrew Morehouse, Rena Caron Lab and Field Assistants: Patrick Wheeler, Sarah Ehrmentraut, Pia Marciano, Zach Charewicz, Katerina Messologitis, Emily Dutton, Andrew Moriarty, Pat Cota, Helen Clark, Cathleen Turner, Joshua Trott
Collaborators Agrilab Technology – Brian Jerose, Jason McCune-Sanders USDA-ARS Tim Griffen (now at Tufts University), Sarah Goslee, Kathy Soder University of Maine Extension – Richard Kersbergen
SARE Grant Administrator and Reviewers Vern Grubinger, David Holm, Kathleen Newkirk
UNH Administration – College of Life Sciences and Agriculture Jon Wraith, Dean of the College and Director of the NH Agriculture Experiment Station Anita Klein, Associate Dean
Operations at the Organic Dairy Research Farm Ryan Courtright, Farm Manager Isagani Kimball, Lead Farm Worker Tom Oxford, NHAES Farm Manger

Of special note are the many contributions made by Matthew Smith. Matt spent a total of 4 years designing, redesigning, rebuilding, debugging and operating both the wood shaving machine and the composting facility, and was indefatigable in that effort. Most of what is reported here would not have been possible without him.

External collaborators also offered support and crucial initial information. Foremost among these was our long-standing collaboration with Brian Jerose and Jason McCune-Sanders of AgriLab Technologies in Enosburg Falls, VT who designed the heat exchange system for the

facility, and the software to manage aeration times and record data. The value of the highresolution data on performance of the composting system is demonstrated in chapter 4. Colleagues at the USDA Agricultural Research Service (ARS) offices in Maine and Pennsylvania, especially Tim Griffin (now at Tufts University), Sarah Goslee and Kathy Soder, carried out an initial, very detailed analysis of soil and pasture conditions at the Farm.

#### **Purpose and Structure of This Report**

Beyond capturing the history of the project, this report will present a summary of the major research efforts completed, and will conclude with a review of findings with the highest potential for economic value, and a specific proposal for implementation of a compost-greenhouse connection (Epilogue). As the project progressed, goals and emphasis changed a bit, but generally held true to the outlines in Figures P.1 and P.2. The full text of all three 3-year proposals, as well as much additional information summarized in this report, can be found on the projects website [1].

This report is not intended to be in the format of a peer-reviewed publication. As presented in Chapter 2, many of the central findings have already appeared in both academic and professional outlets. Results summarized in Chapters 4-6 are elaborated in two Ph.D. dissertations by Matthew Smith and Allison Leach [87, 53] produced at the University of New Hampshire. It is our intention that the results contained here will be accessible to practitioners and the public, so the presentation will be more narrative than scientific, the units are English rather than metric, and the discussions of methods and statistics, for example, are truncated.

Chapter 1 reviews the role of early student engagement in the project, and presents some results that put the project into the larger context of the operations of the ODRF. Also included is a detailed discussion of an early student honors thesis that provided preliminary data on composting with heat recovery.

Chapter 2 presents a description of the current state of the ODRF, and reviews results from previously published research. Summaries and references are included for a survey of dairy farmers in New England, operations of the wood shaving machine, and initial results on heat generation and capture in the UNH ASP/HRC facility. As full results are already available in the open literature, this chapter will highlight only the most important and operations-relevant findings.

Chapter 3 reviews composting as an agricultural waste management strategy as well as details about the size and operation of the composting system constructed at the ODRF.

Chapter 4 presents detailed measurements not previously published on energy generation and capture for the ASP/HRC system at the UNH ODRF, and presents methods for extrapolating all available data to total annual values for the full facility.

Chapter 5 begins to deal with the by-products of the composting process. In particular, data are presented on the trace gas emissions in the exhaust from the facility during full operation.

Chapter 6 presents results of a study on the performance of simple organic biofilters in terms of removing ammonia from the exhaust streams measured in chapter 5.

Chapter 7 extends the analysis of environmental impacts to include water quality, focusing on nitrogen concentrations in samples from groundwater wells located across the farm property, and surface water in a small creek draining from the farm pastures.

Chapter 8 takes a broader view of potential nitrogen issues by developing a complete nitrogen budget for the farm and estimating two operational characteristics applied to farms around the world: nitrogen use efficiency and nitrogen surplus.

Chapter 9 begins by estimating the amount of compostable material generated by UNH and the Durham community, then uses three methods to calculate the amount of heat energy that could be generated from this material, and compares this with measured heat demands from greenhouses at the UNH agricultural research farms. The goal is to assess the potential for linking ASP/HRC systems with greenhouses to reduce heating costs, enhance production and extend the useful growing season.

In the Epilogue we highlight two results from the study that we feel offer viable economic opportunities. The first is to reduce bedding costs for farmers and generate income for operators by creating either private or cooperative enterprises to produce bedding from low quality, on-farm softwood resources. The second is to extend high tunnel greenhouse production beyond the normal growing season using heat generated by ASP/HRC systems. Four potential applications of this concept using existing or proposed high tunnels on the UNH campus are presented.

#### Chapter 1: Initial Steps and Preliminary Investigations – John Aber

There is one important component to any project at a research university that is key to the success of the endeavor – the students who become involved. The excellent work by both undergraduates and graduate students on major parts of this project are reported in some detail, with those students as co-authors, in chapters 2 through 8, but some important preliminary information, and also some inspiration for the lead investigators, came from undergraduates initially drawn to the goals of the project.

Just as the project was getting underway, the opportunity was offered to first-year students in Environmental Science to do field work at the Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF) that would be of relevance to the grant. Several jumped at the chance to get involved in real research projects. The team (Figure 1.1) surveyed the wood resource at the ODRF, both standing biomass and annual increment, and determined the sustainable yield from the approximately 170 acres of woodlot. The biomass and energy content of that wood was compared with farm energy consumption and bedding purchases, and it was determined that those woods could be managed sustainably to provide the Farm's bedding requirement indefinitely.

Table 1.1 Harvestable wood compared with demand for bedding at the Organic Dairy Research Farm at UNH - full presentation at: <u>https://mypages.unh.edu/sites/default/files/agroecosyst</u> <u>em/files/energy_use_and_productaber_presentation.pdf</u>	
Wood Production	Figure 1.1 First-year Environmental Science
10.1 tons/ acre.yr 152 tons/ farm.yr	student team that measured the wood
Converts to	resource at the ODRF:
840 "cords" of bedding per year	Brian Godbois, Makenzie Benander, Paul Pellissier,
Bedding Demand	Bella Oleksy, Jacki Amante, Bryan Vangel, Alyssa
135 "cords" per year	Reid.

Projects in another class developed proposals for solar, wind, and geothermal energy for the farm, in the context of the energy budget of the Farm, with results presented at the UNH Undergraduate Research Conference. Graduate students working with principle investigators on the project developed data sets and models on hydrology of the Farm, including movement of some key chemicals, and a full report on the water use footprint of the Farm operation. Reports and presentations can be found at: <a href="https://mypages.unh.edu/sites/default/files/agroecosystem/files/materials\_and\_element\_cycling\_-campbell\_davis\_presentation.pdf">https://mypages.unh.edu/sites/default/files/agroecosystem/files/materials\_and\_element\_cycling\_-campbell\_davis\_presentation.pdf</a>

Two honors undergraduate students pursued thesis work at the farm that offered initial information relevant to major efforts on nitrogen cycling and energy generation by aerated static pile composting. While these efforts were later refined substantially, as seen in the following chapters, the educational value of SARE support was clear, and the results from this early work provided guidance for later and more detailed studies.

Gabe Perkins produced a first rough estimate of the nitrogen cycle and total nitrogen balance of the Farm (Figure 1.2). Using data from purchases and sales of grain, milk and other commodities, as well as inputs from precipitation, this first study estimated a net nitrogen surplus (inputs – outputs) at about 62 lbs



per acre (69 kg/hectare) per year. A much more complete analysis by Allison Leach in her dissertation [53] resulted in a similar conclusion; that imports of grain resulted in nitrogen inputs to the Farm that were substantially greater than losses through the export of milk (see Chapter 8).

Before the construction of the commercial-grade aerated composting facility described in chapters 3 and 4, senior honors student Amy Lamb tested low-cost methods for aerating compost piles to speed decomposition and also to generate heat [51].

Manure stockpiled before spreading can be an important source of both water and air pollution. At the establishment of the ODRF, manure/bedding wastes were held for up to 2 years in unmixed, non-aerated piles. Water quality around these piles was low, based on both visual criteria (Figure 1.3) and measurements of nitrate in groundwater wells adjacent to the piles (Chapter 7). For her thesis, Lamb took three different approaches to questions of heat and trace



Figure 1.3 Images of stockpiled manure at the ODRF prior to the construction of the new composting facility. Impacts on local water quality are clear. Measurements of gas composition within the pile showed high levels of methane [51].

gas generation in manure/compost systems. The first was to measure the temperature and gas concentration profiles in the non-aerated manure piles stored at the Farm (Figure 1.3). The second and third involved measurements from aerated static piles at two different scales. For all three, gas concentrations were measured with a GFM-400 a landfill gas monitor produced by Gas Data and temperatures using manual, analog probes [51].

For the non-aerated pile at the ODRF, ten locations were sampled at one, two and four-foot depths for carbon dioxide, oxygen, methane, and other gases, as well as temperature. Not surprisingly, methane concentrations were high in this pile, and increased with depth. There was an inverse relationship between the concentrations of oxygen and methane in these preliminary measurements (Figure 1.4). LEL is the lower explosive limit, which for methane is 5%.

For comparison with these commercialscale static piles, a similar procedure was applied to material in an Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Composting



Figure 1.4 Changes in measured concentrations of methane and oxygen with depth in non-aerated manure piles at the ODRF [51].

(ASP/HRC) system at the Diamond Hill Custom Heifer operation in Enosburg Falls, Vermont. This is the location of the first installation of an ASP/HRC system in the northeast (again, see full discussion of ASP/HRC systems in chapter 3). Sampling was carried out over the course of a 14 hour period and included times with the aeration fan on, and times with the fan off for up to 4 hours.

An important result from this comparison of sites is that methane concentrations were below detection limits at all times and all depths in the aerated pile even during one trial when the fan had been off for 4 hours. The 4 hour, fan-off period, longer than any that would occur during normal operations, was not sufficient to induce methane production.

There was also a difference in temperature profiles (Figure 1.5). Temperature peaked at the bottom of the aerated pile, with highest values at the top of the static pile. One explanation for this difference could be that colder air entering the aerated pile continues to warm as it passes

Figure 1.5 Changes in temperature measured a different depths in a large static pile at the ODRF, and a commercial-scale Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Compost system at Diamond Hill Heifer operation in Enosburg Falls, Vermont [51]. Aerated pile had slightly higher tempeatures following 4 hours with the fan off.



down through the pile, and reaches a

maximum temperature just before exiting the pile and entering the heat exchanger. For the static pile, higher temperatures at the top reflect higher concentrations of oxygen, and hence higher rates of decomposition, with heat being conducted down through the pile to areas of lower rates.

In the initial absence of the commercial-scale composting facility built at the ODRF, Lamb tested a much simpler approach to aerating static piles, and generating usable heat as well. Replicate piles roughly 10 feet square were established (Figure 1.6). In one trial, perforated leach field pipes were laid, covered in wood chips, and then with a mixture of dairy manure and spent animal bedding. The pipes were then connected to a fan driven by a solar panel which could be used to draw air down through the piles. In a second trial, the pipes were set vertically in the pile to facilitate passive aeration, with no fan connection. A third trial was a control pile without pipes. Piles were initially about 6 feet high, and the same methods were used to measure temperature and gas concentrations as for the large static and static aerated piles described above (Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6 Establishment of areas for measurement of temperature and gas concentrations in small compost piles, and sampling method used on all piles.

All three trials, including the horizontal pipes with the fan off, initially reached temperatures near or above 140°F at the 1 foot depth through passive aeration (Table 1.2). Temperatures were similar or higher down through the pile underlain with horizontal pipes, while the vertical pipe and control piles were lower at the 4 foot depth.

Table 1.2 Temperature by depth in aerated and control piles after 7 days incubation			
Pipe Location			
Depth	Horizontal	Vertical	Control
1 foot	147	139	138
2 feet	156	146	150
4 feet	149	112	122

For these small piles, aeration actually had a negative effect on temperature (Figues 1.7), at least at the rates of aeration used in this trial, due to the volume of cooler ambient air drawn into the pile. Aeration times and rates would have to be moderated to maintain a high temperature, and to allow capture of heated vapor from the pile (See Chapters 4 and 9). As with the Vermont sampling, methane concentrations were below detection limits at all times both within the piles and in vapor exhaust created with the fan on.

Figure 1.7 Changes in pile temperature over time for small, aerated pile with horizontal leach field pipes under the composting material. Aeration was passive during periods with Fan Off, and active during the short period with the Fan On. [51].



From this work, Lamb concluded that smaller piles may still be suitable for achieving the goal of more rapid aerobic decomposition and the elimination of methane emissions from farm wastes, but larger piles, or slower aeration rates, might be required to sustain usable heat generation (see Chapters 4 and 9).

A final conclusion to be drawn from this work, relevant to our analysis of the potential value of ASP/HRC systems in the University of New Hampshire context (Chapter 9 and Epilog) is that it is possible to develop and operate simple and inexpensive alternatives to the very high end, research-grade facility described in Chapters 3 and 4.

# Chapter 2: Current Status of the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm and a Summary of Previously Published Research – Matthew Smith and John Aber

## Current Status of The Organic Dairy Research Farm – and a Valuable Year 0 Assessment

The research presented in this publication would not have been possible without the pre-existence of the Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF). Chapter 1 presents some early descriptions and early measurements made possible by this unique resource, which remains the only Organic Dairy Research Farm that is part of and located near the main campus of a Land Grant University. What is this farm like, how does it operate, and how representative is it of New England dairies?

The ODRF encompasses two adjacent properties, the Burley-Demeritt Farm and the Dudley Lot. These Farms are bounded by Lee Hook Road and the Lamprey River (with small private inholdings) in the town of Lee, NH (Figure 2.1). Farming on both properties dates back to the 1700s, with current land use divided between pastures and managed woodlots. The total area for both is about 300 acres, of which about 170 are in woods, and about 110 are in pasture and forage production. The remaining area includes barns, roads and laneways. Of the wooded acres, 17 are classed as wetlands with limited accessibility for harvest [112].



Figure 2.1 Aerial view of the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm in Lee, NH The Farm is managed and operated as much like a small-scale New England organic dairy farm as possible, while still allowing for feeding trials and other experiments. The ODRF generally milks 40-50 registered Jersey cows and houses an additional 40-50 dry cows, heifers and calves. All stock are grazed on certified organic pastures from early May until early November supplying the bulk of the animals forage needs. To supplement pasture in the summer, milkers are also fed baleage (an ensiled forage product harvested from the farm fields) and nutritional concentrates twice daily, post milking, to meet additional energy and dry matter intake requirements.

Cows are housed for the winter in a 32'x 144' open bedded back barn with a 70'x144' exercise yard, facilitating overall cow comfort. A calf barn is used to house young stock, complete with southern exposure, natural ventilation and individual calf pens. Dry cows and heifers are housed in a 20'x40' three sided bedded-pack structure facing south. The majority of the structures on the farm including the milk house and milking parlor are converted farm structures.

The bedded pack barn uses wood shavings for bedding, and is emptied 2-3 times per year. Removed materials become feedstock for the composting facility described in detail in Chapter 3. The yard is scraped daily and manure is stockpiled until transferred to the composting facility.

The Farm is run as a research facility, and while meticulous financial records are kept, the Farm is not managed to maximize financial return. This approach affects feeding regimes and the handling of waste streams.

In the Prologue, we discussed the importance of early connections with the four major producers of organic milk in the country, and how that led to the goals of our agroecosystem project. There were other early cooperators as well who were drawn to the unique characteristics of the Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF). Among these were researchers at the USDA Agricultural Research Service offices in Maine and Pennsylvania, including Tim Griffin, Sarah Goslee and



Kathy Soder. They established an intensive sampling grid (Figure 2.2), and applied nationally standardized methods to complete detailed measurements and maps of soil and pasture conditions. These valuable products offer an important "before" analysis of initial conditions at the time of establishment of the ODRF and the initiation of the agroecosystem project.

Figure 1.8. Grid of locations used by USDA-ARS researchers to measure soil and pasture conditions at the UNH ODRF in 2008.

#### **Previously Published Research**

Many of our research results relating to the assessment of bedding needs of New England dairy farmers, the production of bedding from low quality softwoods, and the construction, operation and energy generation and capture of the ASP/HRC system at the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF) have been published in both peer-reviewed and practitioner-oriented outlets. Rather than repeat those presentations here, we will list the papers and outlets, and summarize the major findings that relate to the core goals of the proposal.

These publications are grouped under three broad topics: 1) A survey of characteristics and bedding preferences of both organic and conventional dairy farmers in New England, 2) Testing and economic analysis of the value of the shaving machine for producing bedding, and 3) Design, construction, operation and heat generation of the ASP/HRC system at the UNH ODRF.

#### **Survey of New England Dairy Farms**

- Simms, L., M. Smith, J. Alvez, J. Colby, and J. Aber. 2015. Alternatives for rising bedding costs in New England dairies. Dairy Briefs Vol. 62 (Winter). University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension, Durham, NH.

- Smith, M.M, C.L. Simms and J.D. Aber. 2017. Animal bedding cost and somatic cell count across New England dairy farms: Relationship with bedding material, housing type, herd size, and management system. The Professional Animal Scientist 33:616-626

Major points in these two papers of relevance to this project include: 1) that the UNH ODRF is near the median among New England dairy farms in terms of acreage, herd size, amount of pasture, and amount of woodlands, 2) Wood-based materials are preferred for bedding among organic and conventional dairy farmers, although price and availability often dictate the use of a wide range of other materials, and 3) many organic dairy farmers expressed an interest in the possibility of being part of a cooperative effort to produce bedding with a wood shaving machine.

# **Operation and Economic Analysis of a Wood Shaving Machine for the Production of Bedding**

- Smith, M.M., J.D. Aber and T. Howard. 2017. Economic viability of producing animal bedding from low quality and small diameter trees using a wood shaving machine. The Professional Animal Scientist 33:771-779

- Smith, M.M, C.J. Park, C. Andam and J.D. Aber. 2018. Utilization of low grade wood for use as animal bedding: A case study of eastern hemlock. Journal of Forestry 116:520-528

Results of extensive trials with the operation of the particular model of wood shaving machine purchased for this project suggest that the size, cost and operating time requirements are too great to be supported by a single, average-sized New England dairy farm. However, the options of a regional cooperative or a single-purpose private enterprise, or other organizational structure

that could keep the machine running for a majority of a year, could prove profitable and sustainable.

The second paper here tested the value of eastern hemlock shavings as a bedding material, and found it to be as effective at reducing microbial activity as eastern white pine shavings, and have a lower cost for the wood resource. However, the moisture absorption capacity of eastern hemlock was significantly lower than that of eastern white pine, indicating a tradeoff between the two species for use as bedding.

#### Design, Construction, Operation and Performance of an Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Composting System

- Smith, M. and J. Aber. 2014. Heat recovery from Compost. BioCycle 55:26-28

This paper introduced the concept of Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Composting to the professional composting/waste management community, and included the first published images of the UNH ASP/HRC facility.

- Smith, M. M., and J.D. Aber. 2014. Heat recovery from compost: A guide to building an aerated static pile heat recovery composting facility. Durham, NH: University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension; Research Report. 81 p.

- Smith, M. and J.D. Aber. 2017 Heat Recovery from Compost: A Step-by-Step Guide on Building an Aerated Static Pile Heat Recovery Compost Facility. University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension, Durham, NH. 72pp.

These two publications present in great detail the specifications used to build the UNH ASP/HRC facility.

- Smith, M., J.D. Aber and R. Rynk. 2017. Heat recovery from composting – a comprehensive review of system design, recovery rate and utilization. Compost Science and Utilization 25 (sup1) S11-S22.

This systematic review describes the methods used historically and currently for capturing the heat generated by aerobic composting. It has become one of the most frequently accessed articles this journal has ever published.

- Smith M.M and J.D. Aber. 2015. Heat extraction & utilization from composting as an alternative to anaerobic digestion for reducing energy costs at dairy farms. UNH Dairy Report 2015: New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station and University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension; 2015 pp. 33-35.

- Smith, M. and J. Aber. 2017. Recover energy from composting to heat water on farms. Progressive Dairyman 19:61-63 and Progressive Dairyman Canada. 3:63-65.

These two present the concept and potential value of capturing heat from compost to a general practitioner audience.

- Smith, M.M and J.D. Aber. 2018. Energy Recovery from Commercial-Scale Composting as a Novel Waste Management Strategy. Applied Energy 211:194-199

This paper is the first to present data on the rate of actual heat capture at the UNH ASP/HRC facility. A major point from this paper is that the actual rate of capture and retention in a system that uses a heat exchanger/water tank storage method is highly dependent on the temperature of the water in the storage tank (see more discussion of this in chapters 3 and 4). This means that, to maximize heat capture, the composting system needs to be connected to another system that exhibits a relatively constant requirement for the heat produced.

A second point is that, working at maximum efficiency, the system can generate and capture as much as 900 BTU/min from each of 4 sets of paired bays in the system, during periods of active aeration. See Chapters 4 and 9 for extension of these calculations to full operation for a year.

# Chapter 3: The Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Compost System at the University of New Hampshire – John Aber and Matthew Smith

### Introduction

Definitions of sustainability might include the intelligent use of integrated systems of production, waste reduction, and recycling that provide for societies needs while reducing environmental impacts. Sustainable ventures need to succeed in three domains simultaneously: economic, environmental and social. Agriculture is critical for feeding a growing world population, but is also an important component of the overall impact of human activity on the global ecosystem. Waste products produced by agriculture augment both climate change and reduction in water quality. Proposed solutions to the problem of minimizing agriculture's impact also need to succeed in all three domains, meaning that financial benefit and social acceptance are required for a proposed method for reducing environmental impacts to gain acceptance.

Dairy operations are the largest component of the food production system in New England. Unlike consumption of meat, pulses and grains, a significant fraction of dairy products consumed in the region is produced here as well, even though the overall number of dairy farms continues to decline [115]. In keeping with the goals of this Agroecosystem study funded by USDA-SARE and the NHAES (see Prologue), we worked on developing and testing new technologies and processes that could increase the financial and environmental sustainability of organic diaries in the region (see summary in Chapter 2). A centerpiece of this research has been developing a unique set of information on a relatively new method for composting organic farm wastes, and generating usable heat as well.

In this chapter we review composting as a waste management practice, and describe in detail the Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Composting (ASP/HRC) system at the University of New Hampshire (UNH) Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF). The Farm is operated as a research unit of the New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station (NHAES).

#### **Composting as a Waste Management Practice**

As limitations on disposal of organic wastes in landfills increase in the U.S. and Europe [8, 24, 42], composting is receiving increased attention as an alternative waste treatment method. In particular, Aerated Static Pile (ASP) composting is emerging as a viable method for reducing labor and space requirements for processing a wide variety of materials.

Composting is the process by which organic materials are broken down by microorganisms into a stable, pathogen-free, humus-like product [24, 43]. Composting requires a carbon source (e.g., plant litter, crop residue, wood chips), a nitrogen source (e.g., animal manure, human waste, food waste), and microorganisms that then decompose the feedstocks [81]. Compost can be a preferred soil amendment because it provides nutrients in an organic, slow-release form, while also enhancing soil structure and organic matter content, improving water retention capacity and reducing rates of nutrient losses [78, 79, 80]. Land application of compost has also been shown to promote carbon storage [20].

Composting is an aerobic process, where oxygen is provided to feedstocks passively, mechanically, or through forced aeration [82]. One of the primary byproducts of this process is heat. This is not to be confused with anaerobic digestion, which processes feedstocks in an oxygen-limited, anaerobic environment, where one of the primary byproducts is methane (CH<sub>4</sub>).

The composting process encompasses three unique stages which each have distinct microbial communities and physical characteristics [20, 3.9, 3.10, 105]. The three stages are an initial mesophilic stage, a thermophilic stage, and a second mesophilic or maturation phase. The composting process is controlled by oxygen availability, the material's moisture content, particle size and bulk density, and the ratio of carbon to nitrogen, as well as temperature, pH, and the microorganisms present [24, 70, 81].

There are a number of composting methods utilized by both farmers and commercial composters. The following is a brief summary of the more common on-farm composting methods, which are described by Rynk et al. [82]. An updated version of this technical guide is due out in the summer of 2020.

Static pile, passive composting systems involve stockpiling wastes and allowing the materials to decay slowly over time, without being turned or managed in any way. While this represents the lowest cost option, it also requires the longest time to reach a finished product. This type of composting system, especially if outdoors and uncovered, also has the greatest risk for odors and environmental pollution, including leaching of nutrients to groundwater and the production and release of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), a powerful greenhouse gas (See Chapter 1).

Conventional methods for increasing aeration and speeding the decomposition process include the use of windrowed piles in which materials are held for up to 1-2 years and turned frequently to assure mixing and complete aeration. This method is slow and labor intensive and is most frequently used by backyard gardeners and other small-scale operations. In the U.S., commercial systems processing food wastes are required to maintain windrow temperatures > 130°F for 15 days straight with 5 turns of the pile for the final product to be saleable. While more material can be processed more rapidly than with passive systems, the extra machinery and labor increase the cost of the operation, and heat recovery, if attempted, is more difficult and less efficient.

Passively-aerated composting systems involve placing mixed feedstocks over a collection of perforated pipes (usually 4 inch diameter drainage pipe 4 feet apart). As the feedstocks begin to compost and the microorganisms generate heat, that heat raises due to convection, which pulls fresh air into the bottom of the pile through the pipes (see Chapter 1). While more efficient than passive systems, the primary drawback is adding and removing the composting feedstocks without damaging the exposed pipes.

#### Aerated Static Pile Composting Systems with Heat Recovery

In contrast to the previously mentioned composting processes, the ASP approach does not require turning during the active composting phase, reducing labor and fuel costs. Organic wastes are loaded once onto a concrete floor in which perforated pipes have been embedded. The pipes are connected to a manifold system and fan that either draws air down through the

decomposing feedstocks (negative aeration), or forces air up through the material (positive aeration) (Figure 3.1, see detailed discussion of the UNH system in the next section). In negative airflow applications, the process creates a contained airflow of heated vapor that can be directed through a heat exchanger and/or biofilter to reduce odor and other pollutants. Capital costs for an ASP composting can be higher than for simpler conventional systems, but as the piles do not need to be turned, labor costs are lower and the amount of space required for the composting facility is smaller due to much faster time to produce finished compost.



ASP composting was first described in 1975 [21, 30] and used initially for processing of sewage sludge. Economic analyses of this method suggest its value for wastewater sludge processing [120] and the concept has been expanded to paper sludge and vegetable waste from greenhouse production and other food system materials [14, 38, 104], including animal wastes [122]. Detailed research on the method has included analyses of microbial communities over time [58]. Models of the process have been developed and reviewed [58, 57, 59]. Reviewed models focus primarily on energy balance within the material itself, with the scope of validation limited to forced aeration systems [52].

In addition to a contained and faster composting process, the vapor captured in an ASP system represents a potentially harvestable source of heat energy [89]. Heat generated by microbial activity during decomposition can be captured and used for other purposes, such as heating buildings and greenhouses. Heat in the vapor can be used directly or routed through a heat exchange system and stored as hot water [89, 104, see also Chapters 4 and 9]. Methods for recovering heat from ASP vapor streams (an ASP/HRC system) have emerged in the last several years and have been implemented so far only in a small number of facilities [3.25]. Reviews of heat capture systems have appeared only recently [3.25] and few models of commercial-scale systems have been reported. As a new technology, few estimates of usable energy generation and capture are available for commercial scale ASP/HRC systems [3.25, 92].

Aerated Static Pile (ASP) composting, then, offers the potential for faster processing of organic wastes, reducing organic waste disposal in landfills, and also generating a saleable soil amendment. When combined with a heat recovery System (ASP/HRC), the benefits also include

usable heat energy and the potential to offset greenhouse gas emissions. In the context of an integrated food system, ASP/CHR systems can help minimize the environmental impacts of agricultural production and can be applied at a range of scales.

# The Aerated Static Pile Heat Recovery Composting System (ASP/HRCS) at the University of New Hampshire

In 2013, the New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment station (NHAES) constructed the first ASP/HRC facility at a research university at the Burley-Demeritt Farm in Lee, NH, USA, the setting for the University of New Hampshire's Organic Dairy Research Farm [89, 90]. The farm is part of the University of New Hampshire and is managed and operated by the NHAES.

The facility was designed in conjunction with Agrilab Technologies ®, using concepts developed from their first ASP/HRC system designed for a heifer operation in Vermont, USA [104]. Funding for construction of the facility was provided by an anonymous donor, and the building was later dedicated to, and named for, alternative energy pioneer Joshua Nelson, at the donor's request (See Prologue).



Figure 3.2 Joshua Nelson Energy Recovery Compost Facility located at the University of New Hampshire Burley-Demeritt Organic Dairy Research Farm in Lee, New Hampshire, USA. The images show A) the exterior doors to the facility where compost feedstock is loaded, B) piles of composting material in the facility, and C) the back of the facility where the gas exhaust from the facility is piped, allowing for heat recovery and measurements.

The Joshua Nelson Energy Recovery Composting Research Facility is a pole barn structure that is about 100' wide, 50' deep and 25' tall (Figure 3.2a). It has 4 pairs of replicate bays (8 bays total) into which feedstocks are loaded (Figure 3.2b, Figure 3.3). These replicate bays allow experimental trials with different feedstock mixes, aeration times and irrigation treatments. Each of the 8 bays are aerated by two pipes embedded in the concrete floor, for a total of 16 pipes. These aeration pipes are connected to a 1 HP fan which pulls ambient air through the piles for microbial oxygenation. A programmable logic controller (PLC) operates gate valves which control the timing of aeration for each bay. The heated compost vapor that is pulled from the composting feedstocks is sent through a concrete headwall, into a manifold of PVC pipes and through a heat exchanger system developed by Agrilab Technologies (B [90], which stores heat in a 295 gallon hot water tank (Figure 3.1). The fan and valves are the only mechanical parts of the system which require only dollars per day in electricity to operate.



**Figure 3.3** Conceptual diagram of the UNH ASP/HRC system (Smith and Aber 2018). This aerial view of the facility's eight bays shows the direction of air flow from the piles to the heat exchanger. Exhaust from the facility is directed to a biofilter (see Chapter 6).

After passing through the heat exchanger, the cooled compost vapor is sent through a biofilter to scrub ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) and odor (see Chapter 6). Temperature sensors located in each pipe exiting the compost chamber through the headwall allow continuous monitoring of vapor drawn from each bay (Figure 3.3). Additional sensors are located in the inlet and outlet pipes on the heat exchanger, inside the water tank, and in the exhaust pipe leaving the building. Two additional sensors record air temperature in the room in which the pipes and heat exchange system are located, and within an insulated section of that room in which the pipes leading from the headwall to the heat exchanger are shielded. Two final sensors provide data on rate of air flow through the system (ft<sup>3</sup>/minute) and relative humidity of the vapor stream, which was near saturation throughout the system at all times. Data are collected from all sensors at one minute intervals by a Web Energy Logger. Both the control system and the data logging system were developed and installed by AgriLab Technologies (B). In Chapters 4 and 9 we present data on temperature and airflow measured at each point in the system.

The ASP/HRC composting facility processes dairy and equine manure, spent animal bedding (pine wood shavings), and waste feed hay. The four pairs of bays are loaded and unloaded at different times so that materials of different mixtures, ages and stages of decay are present at any one time. This variation widens the range of conditions under which data were collected and so enhances the generality of results.

A complete description of facility design and cost can be found in [89, 90]. A descriptive video is available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YNTX5vqN2Fs&feature=youtu.be</u>

### Chapter 4: Estimating Potential Total Energy Gain from a Multi-bay Aerated Static Pile Composting System with Heat Recovery – John Aber, Matthew Smith, and Allison Leach

### Introduction

In an earlier paper [92], we reported results from short-term experiments on heat generation and capture from the UNH ASP/HRC system. The data for that paper resulted from experiments in which the heat storage water tank was emptied and refilled with ground water at  $\sim 50^{\circ}$ F. Compost vapor ranging up to 150°F was then drawn through the system, and the rate of temperature increase in the stored water used to calculate heat capture. As the 3-4 hour experiments continued, the temperature of the water in the tank increased, narrowing the difference in temperature between the compost vapor and tank water (see Figure 4.1).

In addition to establishing the range of possible energy capture rates from a single set of bays, the paper stressed the importance of the temperature difference between the heat source and heat sink in determining the rate of energy capture from the system. This is not surprising in that any heat transfer process is a function of the temperature differential between source and sink.

One important management principle to be drawn from this is that to maximize energy capture from this ASP/HRC system, the storage component should be tied to a relatively constant demand for the generated heat. In other words, a relatively constant drain of heat from the water tank would be optimal. In Chapter 9 we will discuss another option – using the heat directly in a greenhouse application, without the heat exchanger/storage tank component.

The goal of this chapter is to estimate the total amount of heat energy that can be captured from the UNH ASP/HRC system over a full operating year. To do this, we need to put the data on short-term energy capture [92] into the context of commercial operating conditions, including the fraction of time that a given pile is aerated per day, and changes in pile temperature over time.

Under the farm operational conditions at the UNH ODRF, it is not possible to run enough controlled experiments to test all possible combinations of pile temperature, aeration time and material condition. Instead, we have produced a simple, excel-based model that captures the behavior of the different parts of the system. Here we test that model against measurements from the system, and then use the model to predict potential total annual heat capture.

#### A Simple Model of the UNH ASP/HRC System

As a simple physical system, the UNH facility can be described with a simple spreadsheet-based model that describes heat transfers as a function of empirically derived transfer coefficients applied to the measured gradient in temperature across any boundary. The model developed is available on request of the first author.

Comparisons among predicted and measured temperatures across the UNH system suggest that the model accurately captures the dynamics of that system (Figure 4.1). In addition to supporting the general accuracy of this simple model, three points can be made that are relevant to system management and potential total heat yield.



Figure 4.1 Model performance in terms of predicted (blue lines) versus observed (red lines) at 4 locations in the ASP/HRC system: A) At the headwall as the vapor exits the compost pile, B) As the vapor enters the isobar heat exchanger, C) Temperature of the water in the water tank – green line is energy capture (right axis), D) As the vapor exits the system as exhaust.

First, Figure 4.1c shows both an accurate prediction of tank water temperature over time, and also re-emphasizes the importance of the gradient in temperature between vapor stream and tank water in terms of rate of energy capture. During this trial, as the initially cool water is warmed by the vapor and approaches vapor temperature (Figure 4.1c), the rate of energy capture declines (green line).

Second, both figure 4.1a and b show a systematic difference between predicted and observed in terms of vapor temperature that develops during the  $\sim$  4 hour trial during which air was drawn continuously down through the pile (see Smith and Aber [92] for a complete description of these experiments). This difference persists for the remainder of the data set, suggesting that the long aeration period reduced measured pile temperature, and that this reduction was not immediately reversed.

Finally, Figure 4.1d presents data on how exhaust temperatures vary over both the regular management cycle, and the 4-hour experiment. What this shows is that the exhaust gas will

often still be at high temperatures, either at the beginning of an aeration cycle, or when the temperature of the water in the tank is elevated.

In 2016, the long aeration time experiments were carried out repeatedly using vapor from a single set of bays. While this provided the wide range of pile tempeatures required for developing the relationships captured in Figure 4.1 and Table 4.1 below, changes in pile temperature also show the impact of these multiple, long aeration times (Figure 4.2). The normal pattern of rapid assymptotic increase in pile and vapor temperatures, followed by a slow decrease over a multi-week composting cycle, is disrupted during and following each extended aeration event. Especially noticeable is the decrease following four consecutive days of extended aeration (days 136-139, May 16-19). Return to previous or expected temperatures was delayed for several days.

It is important to note that data from a previous analysis of shorter but variable aeration times more representative of normal composting operations [92] showed no significant effect of aeration length per cycle on vapor temperature.



Figure 4.2. Headwall temperatures for Bays 7 and 8 for a 35-day period in May/June 2016. Arrows indicate days with long (3-4 hour) aeration trials.

To the extent that the comparisons in Figure 4.1 demonstrate the ability of the model to emulate the function of the UNH ASP/HRC system accurately, we can use the model to predict the total potential energy capture from this system over periods from a day to a year.

For the predictions that follow, we used a pattern of aerating for 40 minutes every 4 hours, for a total of 4 hours per day, with pile, tank and room (ambient) temperatures specified within the ranges measured at the facility. Results (Table 4.1) emphasize the importance of three variables. As expected, water tank and pile temperatures, and the difference between the two, were the primary factors controlling energy capture. Surprisingly, the ambient temperature in the area holding the water tank was also important. The model, which includes data on changes in tank temperature when aeration is not occurring, contains a factor for energy loss to the surroundings. Even though the tank was well insulated, energy loss into the room holding the tank, which was not heated, was significant during periods of cold weather. Negative values for heat capture

System Temperatures (F)		Ambie	nt Tempera	ture (F)	
Tank	Pile	60	70	80	
		BTUs (1000s)			
90	150	27.5	57.1	72.0	
	140	13.1	42.6	57.5	
	130	-1.4	28.2	43.1	
	120	-15.8	13.7	28.6	
	110	-30.3	-0.7	14.1	
	100	-44.7	-15.2	-0.3	
70	150	86.3	115.8	130.7	
	140	71.8	101.4	116.3	
	130	57.4	86.9	101.8	
	120	42.9	72.5	87.3	
	110	28.5	58.0	72.9	
	100	14.0	43.6	58.4	
				. <u> </u>	
50	150	159.7	174.6	189.5	
	140	145.2	160.1	175.0	
	130	130.8	145.7	160.5	
	120	116.3	131.2	146.1	
	110	101.9	116.8	131.6	
	100	87.4	102.3	117.2	

result from energy loss from the tank to the operating room during periods where capture from the vapor stream is minimal.

#### Table 4.1 Predicted rates of energy capture for a 24 hour period from a single pair of bays at the UNH ASP/HRC facility (1000s of BTUs per day) as a function of temperature differential between vapor and water tank, and ambient temperature in the facilities operations room.

#### Two Long-Term Data Sets for Annual Extrapolations

To produce reasonable estimates of potential total energy capture for a full year from this facility, we need to specify aeration schedules and changes in pile temperature over the full composting cycle. In commercial operations, aeration times are generally reduced as composting materials decay. Aeration times can be higher during the initial, thermophilic phase of the composting process, and can be greater for heat removal purposes than needed to meet microbial demand for oxygen [82]. As the composting process continues, and the easily digestible feedstocks are consumed by the microbes, temperature starts to decline and so does the need for aeration.

Figure 4.3 presents two example data sets collected as part of this study. The first trial captures standard (or actually ideal) initial conditions and rates of heat generation over time. Pile and vapor temperatures rise quickly to 150°F and decline slowly over the 150+ day composting period. Material for the second trial was saturated with water at the beginning, and never achieved the maximum temperatures of the first trial, but temperatures also declined more slowly, and aeration times were longer. During both trials, changes in the amount of aeration time was modified to simulate management practices in commercial operations.

Another point derived from Figure 4.3a is that substantial amounts of heat energy can be generated over long composting cycles. Note that the vapor temperature in this trial remained above 100°F even after nearly 6 months of decomposition. While commercial composting operations tend to emphasize throughput rates, and so rarely hold material longer than 3-4 weeks, a system managed for maximum heat generation may be optimized with longer composting cycles.



Figure 4.3. Data for vapor temperature, airflow volume and aeration time for two composting trials. Volume is related to hours of aeration and average airflow rate during aeration, but was also measured directly.

It is possible to run the model of heat generation and capture (Figure 4.1) for a very large number of combinations of changes in pile and water temperatures and aeration times over different lengths of composting cycles, the range of which is captured in Figure 4.3. However, the major drivers of energy capture are presented in Table 4.1 and can be extrapolated directly to different management scenarios. Enumerating all possible combinations in a large table might not enhance the clarity or value of the information provided. For example, estimating actual heat capture using the data presented in Figure 4.3 would require specification of changes in the temperature of water in the storage tank as well, requiring in turn a description of the use of the capture heat.

A final point is that these numbers are for a single pair of bays. There are four pairs of bays in the facility, so potential energy capture estimated from the values in table 4.1 should be multiplied by 4 when assessing the capacity of the full system, assuming there is enough material to keep the facility operating throughout the year.

#### Conclusions

From the values in Table 4.1, and understanding that these numbers are for one set of bays out of four in the facility, it is clear that the range of predicted total energy capture from the UNH ASP/HRC system at full operation could range from essentially 0 (high tank temperature with

low pile and ambient temperatures) to nearly 800,000 BTU per day (pile at 150°F, tank at 50°F, ambient at 80°F).

The effectiveness of this type of system as a source of heat energy is then very clearly linked to management practices and the nature of the heat sink to which the captured energy is applied. In Chapter 9 we will present several different methods of estimating total annual energy capture using a range of techniques and assumptions, and explore the potential for one particular application: using compost heat to extend the growing season in a high tunnel or greenhouse.

#### Chapter 5: Compost Gas Exhaust from an Aerated Static Pile Heat Recovery Composting System - Allison Leach, Nicole Williamson, Matthew Smith, and John Aber

## Introduction

Chapter 4 presents the potential for generation and capture of heat energy from an Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Composting (ASP/HRC) system. The decomposition process also generates gases such as carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) [7, 34, 2, 101, 83] that can contribute to climate change or local air pollution [103, 99]. In particular, the carbon dioxide and ammonia concentrations in compost gas can be much higher than ambient levels. [7, 4, 68].

The ratio of the two main carbon gases (carbon dioxide and methane) emitted during decomposition of farm wastes will vary depending on the concentration of oxygen in the pile [3, 48, 97, see also Chapter 1]. This ratio will affect the impact of the process on the climate system, as methane is ~25 times more effective than carbon dioxide in retaining long-wave, infrared, or "heat" radiation [106].

Most studies on compost gas exhaust concentrations cited above have occurred at the lab scale and have relied on expensive lab testing equipment. Lab-scale results may not accurately reflect conditions in commercial-scale facilities. We could not find any studies in the literature exploring gas concentrations at ASP facilities with heat recovery.

The goal of the research reported here was to develop a sampling procedure for measuring exhaust emissions from composting facilities using inexpensive and portable gas sampling technologies suitable for use in a commercial-scale facility, and to use these methods to characterize the concentrations of carbon dioxide, ammonia, methane and oxygen in the exhaust stream from the UNH ASP/HRC system.

#### Methods

We began this study by comparing available methods for measuring elevated concentrations of carbon dioxide, ammonia, methane and oxygen in the high temperature, high humidity environment of the vapor streams from the ASP/HRC facility. As a result of these method tests [53], colorimetric gas detection tubes were selected as the preferred method, and were used to measure carbon dioxide and ammonia (RAE Systems, and Drager Systems). Detection tubes were selected because of their wide concentration range (RAE Systems: 25-1000 ppm ammonia, Drager: 1000-5000 ppm ammonia, RAE Systems: 0.25-20% carbon dioxide) and accuracy at high temperature and humidity [77, 27]. Gas detection tubes are also relatively inexpensive and can be used by commercial compost facility operators.

A gas detector (RKI Eagle Portable Gas Detector) was used for methane measurements because quantitative gas detection tubes for methane are not available. Methane concentrations are measured on a scale of 0-100% of the lower explosive limit (LEL, or 0-5% by volume). Oxygen measurements from the gas analyzer were used to monitor aeration before an oxygen sensor was installed in the facility. Oxygen was measured in the gas detector using an electrochemical gas

sensor with a measurement range of 0-40%. The oxygen measurements from the gas detector were corrected using a comparison between the gas detector and facility sensor oxygen measurements [See 53], for additional details on sampling methodology).

Gas sampling was conducted for four complete compost trials, each of which had two paired bays with the same feedstock material (Table 5.1). These individual bays are not true replicates because there is not a divider between bays. Although the pipes drawing air through the two paired bays are 4 feet apart, aeration in one bay can also pull some air through the adjacent, paired bay. However for this study, each of the individual bays will be reported separately.

Start date	Bays	Total number of days	Days Sampled	Number of sampling events	Compost Trial Condition
September 2015	1 & 2	83	4 days	32	Blocked air flow
October 2015	3 & 4	53	6 days	23	Delayed microbial activity
August 2016	3 & 4	61	22 days	39	Standard conditions
November 2016	7&8	40	14 days	23	Low temperature

Table 5.1. Descriptive information for four compost sampling periods.

As evident in the final column in Table 5.1, pile conditions varied widely across the four composting trials, with the August 2016 trial representing standard or ideal conditions, and the other three showing variations in composting rates and gas emissions. Given this variation, we present here the August 2016 data set as most relevant to well-managed, professional operations. The results of the other three trials are presented in Leach [53].

# **Results and Discussion**

Changes in pile temperature and gas concentration are presented in Figure 5.1. On the first day of sampling, just after the feedstock was put in place, temperatures and ammonia concentrations are near minimums, while both carbon dioxide and methane are at their highest levels. This suggests that the material was anaerobic prior to loading, due to outside storage. After just one day of aeration, the ammonia concentrations quickly peaked to maximum readings: over 4000 parts per million for bay 3 and near 2000 parts per million for bay 4. At the same time, carbon dioxide and methane concentrations both started to decline. Pile temperatures followed a similar pattern, peaking in the first week, and declining over time.

Combining data from both bay 3 and bay 4 reveals a strong relationship between pile temperature and concentrations of carbon dioxide and ammonia (Figure 5.2). Data from day 1 and 2 of the trial are not presented as they represent initial pile conditions rather than the result of processes after loading. This relationship is to be expected as higher temperatures reflect higher rates of microbial processing, which will also result in higher rates of release of carbon and nitrogen from the feedstock.



Figure 5.1 Trends in vapor temperature and gas concentrations over a full composting trial beginning in August 2016 for two composting piles: Bay 3 (Blue line) and Bay 4 (Red line).





Figure 5.2. Relationships between vapor temperature and concentrations of ammonia and carbon dioxide. Outliers from day 1 and 2 of trial removed.
In the introduction we highlighted the potential importance of the partitioning of carbon losses between carbon dioxide and methane. By combining measured gaseous losses with estimates of initial pile content as well as measures of leaching losses that occur thought condensation that occurs as the vapor is cooled in the heat exchanger [53, 87], we can report the fractions of initial carbon and nitrogen lost and retained for the August 2016 trial (Figure 5.3).

For carbon, losses were primarily through emission of carbon dioxide (22-25%), with 73-77% retained in the organic matter within the pile. The remaining 1-2% was emitted as methane or leached in condensate (in Figure 5.3, black bars between retained and carbon dioxide). For nitrogen, emissions of ammonia accounted for 6-12%, with 85-91% retained. Losses in condensate accounted for about 3% of initial feedstock (black bars in Figure 5.3). Greater emissions for carbon than for nitrogen are consistent with the expected decrease in the carbon:nitrogen ratio in the feedstock as decomposition proceeds.



The ratio of carbon emitted as carbon dioxide versus carbon emitted at methane (~20:1) is much higher than ratios measured in static piles at the ODRF and agrees with undetectable levels of methane at the Diamond Hill Farm ASP/HRC facility (Figures 1.3, 1.4). Similar differences in this ratio between aerated and static piles have been noted in the literature [3, 48, 97]

## Conclusions

Two major conclusions can be drawn from this first set of measurement on gas emissions from a commercial-scale ASP/HRC facility.

The first is that ammonia concentrations in exhaust gases are several orders of magnitude higher than atmospheric concentrations and can pose environmental challenges. During full operation, ammonia odors were clearly detectable in the exhaust prior to the initiation of the biofilter work reported in the next chapter.

The second is the potential for reducing the climate impacts of manure management on farms by replacing static non-aerated composting piles, which generate high methane emissions, with next generation composting systems that capture heat and reduce overall greenhouse gas emissions.

## Chapter 6: Designing and Testing a Biofilter for Ammonia Removal at a Commercial-Scale Composting Facility – Nicole Williamson, Allison Leach, Matthew Smith, and John Aber

## Introduction

Composting provides an environmentally friendly alternative to landfill disposal for processing organic waste material. Aerated static pile composting is a method of composting that pulls air through the compost to promote microbial activity, generating usable heat energy while also minimizing surface and groundwater contamination (see Chapters 1, 4 and 5). While limiting some environmental impacts, this process still produces exhaust vapors with pollutants like ammonia that can impair local air quality [e.g. 74]. One response to the problem of ammonia emissions could be the installation of a biofilter. Biofilters use biological process to remove unwanted elements from waste streams.

For example, passing ammonia-rich gases, like those described in Chapter 5, through a carbonrich, microbially active substrate could reduce ammonia emissions from the facility through microbial immobilization of the ammonia resource [71, 65]. Materials frequently used for biofilter removal of ammonia include wood chips with or without finished compost added [see reviews by 119, 72, 15]. Such biofilters are cost efficient and easily installed.

The use of biofilters is a well-established method for reducing emissions of odors and toxins from composting and wastewater treatment systems, having been employed as early as 1953 in a sewage treatment plant in Long Beach, CA [65]. Key characteristics of such systems include the type of material used in the filter, the structure, porosity, moisture content and temperature of the material pack, and the frequency and rate of aeration [82]. Mathsen [60] and Nanda et al [65] provide general reviews on each of these topics. Mature compost, wood chips, straw, hay and similar materials are most commonly used in farm settings. Unique combinations [e.g. 47] reflect local availabilities. We focus here on the effects of biofilters on ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) as this is the primary constituent having a negative effect on odors and air quality.

Janni et. Al [49] tested a portable effluent air characterization method at 6 different sites using a range of biofiltering approaches. Inlet carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentrations ranged from 618-3085ppm, and ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) concentrations from 4.7-37.6ppm. No changes in carbon dioxide concentration were measured, and ammonia removal efficiencies ranged from 60-90%. Removal increased with moisture content in these systems, but so did nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) production. Rate of airflow increased with measured pressure drop across the material. Mathsen [60] emphasizes that slower air movement and lower pressure drops are important for maintaining relatively equal rates of airflow throughout the entire filter.

Chen et al [13] report consistent ammonia removal rates of 95% over 210 days at inlet concentrations of up to 110ppm. Lower efficiencies occurred above 110ppm, and after 200 days. Ling and Chen [56], as part of a larger study, report 95% removal of ammonia by a compost/activated charcoal mixture with inlet concentrations from 20-500ppm and with retention times in the biofilter of about 30 seconds. Pagans et al [71] found 95% removal using mature compost as the medium and inlet concentrations up to 2000ppm.

Nicolai et al [67] compared the retention efficiency for ammonia in biofilters using a mixture of compost and wood chips ranging from 10% to 90% and over three levels of moisture content. They found that efficiencies were relatively constant with compost content above 20% of the total, and moisture contents above 40%. They recommended at 30:70 mix of compost:wood chips to optimize aeration, contact with biofilter material, and potential for biological activity.

Most of the references cited above test biofilters in lab-scale settings with low concentrations and do not consider commercial-scale facilities and higher gas concentrations. Here we address the construction, sampling methods, and ammonia removal efficiency of two different organic biofilters. The biofilters are located at the UNH ASP/HRC facility Organic Dairy Research Farm in Lee NH.

## Methods

Ammonia removal efficiency of the biofilters tested as part of this study was determined by comparing the concentration of this gas in the exhaust stream from the ASP/HRC facility (see Chapter 5 for methods) against concentrations following passage through the biofilter. To measure emissions from the biofilter, we needed to design and construct an enclosure that would isolate those emissions from ambient air. To achieve this isolation, we used a system of pipes and valves to capture exhaust gases and direct them to the biofilter, placing biofilter materials over this piping system, and then building an enclosure over the biofilter to isolate emissions from ambient air (Figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1 Conceptual diagram of the linked composting/biofilter system at the UNH ODRF

The pipe system for the biofilter was laid out as a pair of filter areas, each with a three pipe system for distributing exhaust from the composting facility to the biofilter (Figure 6.2). Each leg of this system was 30 feet long. Pipes were standard 8 inch diameter leach field pipes purchased from a local dealer. This pipe system was laid on the ground and valves were included at each of the black square locations to direct airflow. Biofilter material was laid over the pipes and mounded to a depth of approximately 3 feet.



The frame for the enclosure constructed to isolate and measure gases passing through the filter material was constructed of PVC tubing in a peaked house design (Figure 6.2). For sampling, this frame was overlain with plastic sheeting anchored to the ground with boards weighted down with sandbags and stones. Sampling described below was designed to detect any dilution of gases that occurred during sampling periods by leakage around this cover.

The initial concentration of ammonia and carbon dioxide within the enclosure would be the ambient concentration in the atmosphere. As this initial air is displaced by flow-through from the exhaust stream and biofilter, the concentration within the enclosure approaches that of the gases leaving the biofilter material. A set of methods experiments with gas sampling over time following placement of the enclosing plastic film demonstrated that, at normal fan speeds in the facility, concentrations within the enclosure reached an asymptote within 10 minutes. For all results reported below, this 10 minute acclimation time was used.

For all sampling trials, concentrations of ammonia and carbon dioxide were measured at the exit port of the composting facility, and within the enclosure, after acclimation. As previous studies had suggested that concentrations of carbon dioxide did not change significantly by passage through a biofilter [e.g. 49], we used comparison of facility exhaust and enclosure concentrations of this gas as an indicator of leakage or dilution by ambient air from outside the enclosure.

Gas concentrations were measured using the protocol and colorimetric gas detection tube methods described in Chapter 5.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Comparison of measured carbon dioxide concentrations in the facility exhaust and in the biofilter enclosure confirmed that those concentrations were similar, supporting the finding in previous papers that this gas did not change during passage through the filter. This also supports the assumption that the gas concentrations within the enclosure were not affected by leakage or dilution by the ambient atmosphere.

For all trials, the initial efficiency of ammonia removal was very high. Over a standard 21 day composting cycle trial with a range of ammonia inlet concentrations, ammonia removal efficiency averaged 70-100% (Figure 6.3a). Efficiency increased significantly with increasing inlet concentration across all trials and biofilter types (Figure 6.3b). The efficiency of the wood chip only filter declined over the three year time period that it was in place, dropping to an average below 50% in year 3 (Figure 6.3c). There were no significant differences between removal efficiencies for the wood chip only and wood chip plus compost filters.







#### Conclusions

Our results substantiate that simple biofilters can generally be effective at removing 70-100% of ammonia from the exhaust gas stream of an ASP/HRC system like the one at the UNH ODRF. Efficiencies are a function of inlet concentrations, and decline with the age of the biofilter materials, dropping below 50% in the third year of operation. There were no significant differences between wood chip biofilters with and without compost included.

Chapter 7: Waste Management Practices and Water Quality at the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm – William H. McDowell, Michelle D. Shattuck, J. Matthew Davis and John Aber

#### Introduction

In addition to the air quality issues addressed in the last two chapters, agricultural practices are also known to affect water quality as part of what has been described as the Nitrogen Cascade [36]. In particular, accumulation of excess nitrogen in areas of concentrated animal agriculture, especially in barn and containment areas, or where animal manures are stored, can increase concentrations of ammonium and nitrate in water leaching through these wastes [e.g. 98]. One potential advantage of ASP/HRC systems in this regard is that manure/bedding wastes are stored under cover within the facility, protected from rain and snow. In the case of the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF), other changes in waste management described below occurred at the same time as the establishment of organic dairy practices. These changes provide the opportunity to examine the response of water quality across the farm.

Two changes are highlighted here. The first is a shift from the storage of barn wastes (manure and bedding) in an exposed, uncovered and anerobic site (Chapter 1), to the aerated and covered environment within the ASP/HRC structure (Chapter 3). This change occurred when the facility was completed in 2013. The second is the elimination of miniature swine from the animal husbandry operations at the ODRF in 2009. The swine were raised in a single enclosed facility from which wet manure was washed daily into an open storage lagoon.

At the beginning of the agroecosystem project, we proposed to measure and monitor nitrogen levels in groundwater at different locations across the Burley-Demeritt farm. This work used groundwater wells that were installed in 2008 with support from the US EPA through the Connecticut River Airshed Watershed Consortium and the NH Water Resources Research Center. With additional support from the SARE grant for our Agroecosystem Study, research has been completed describing ground and surface water flows [11, 37, 28, 63, 5]. Pairing this understanding with measurements over time of nitrogen concentrations in the groundwater wells and surface waters on the farm provides insight into changes in nitrogen dynamics related to changes in waste management practices during the first 10 years since the establishment of the Organic Dairy Research Farm.

The purpose of this chapter is to present data on water flows and nitrogen concentrations across the ODRF and to highlight changes in water quality downflow from the outdoor manure storage and waste lagoon locations following the elimination of the miniature swine operation, and the relocation of the dairy waste storage to the composting facility. We also present data from wells adjacent to the barn and yard area where temporary storage of manure/bedding materials before loading into the ASP/HRC facility has continued. Farm operations are beginning to eliminate this intermediate, outside storage, moving wastes directly from the barn to the composting facility.

## Methods

Groundwater dynamics were determined using a combination of physical properties and hydrologic measurements [11, 12]. Satellite imagery (LIDAR – a laser-based reflectance technique) was used to map changes in elevation across the farm in high resolution (Figure 7.1). Surficial geologic materials present at the farm were mapped and combined with coarse-scale USGS maps of soil type augmented with additional test bores across the farm to generate a soils data layer.

Groundwater sampling wells were installed at different points across the farm. Three were located just downflow from the swine waste lagoon, and two were located near the area where manure and bedding materials from the dairy operation were stockpiled outdoors before the construction of the covered ASP/HRC facility (see Chapter 1). Additional groundwater wells were located along the elevational



Figure 7.1. Elevational map of the ODRF with simulated side lighting to emphasize relief (Galvin 2010).

gradient evident in Figure 7.1 to produce the distribution of sampling sites shown in Figure 7.2, which also includes a surface water sampling station in Burley-Demeritt Creek (BDC in Figure 7.2).

Single well (slug) tests were conducted on a number of wells to estimate the hydraulic conductivity of the different geologic materials. These data served as input to an industrystandard groundwater hydrology model (MODFLOW) that was then used to predict rate and direction of groundwater flows across the farm [11].

Water samples were collected from this set of sites at roughly monthly intervals through 2014, and less frequently thereafter. Total dissolved nitrogen in samples was determined with a high temperature carbon analyzer with nitrogen module



Figure 7.2. Location of groundwater sampling wells with measured ranges of total dissolved nitrogen values.

[62], nitrate was determined by ion chromatography [116] and ammonium was determined using the automated colorimetric method [107].

#### **Results and Discussion**

Data derived from this set of studies have been used in several presentations on the impacts of agricultural watersheds on groundwater and streamwater quality [e.g. 21, 123]. Here we present only the subset of this rich dataset that relates to changes in water quality after ceasing to use the lagoon for swine barn wastes, and initiating operation of the composting facility and storing barn wastes mostly under cover.

Figure 7.2 shows the location of the sampling locations, as well as mean concentrations of total dissolved nitrogen in the early years of the agroecosystem study. The locations of both the swine waste lagoon and the manure stockpiling operation are shown. The two red dots at the upper right are adjacent to the barn and pad area where cows are housed when not on pasture. This area receives runoff and daily scrapings from the pad area. Total nitrogen concentrations remain high in this area, although the form of nitrogen present has changed (see Figure 7.5 below).

The high level of nitrogen in groundwater adjacent to the lagoon and manure/bedding storage point sources is greatly reduced by the time the water reaches the creek draining the farm (BDC), and the adjacent Lamprey River (Figure 7.2). Samples from the Lamprey taken above and below the farm show no evidence of an impact of the ODRF on river water quality [21]. Based on our chemical data and likely flow paths, it appears that passage of groundwater through both pastures and a naturally vegetated wetland prior to entering the creek may play an important role in minimizing the impact of this contaminated groundwater on total N export from the site. Both biological processing (denitrification) and physical dilution may play a role here. Results from the groundwater flow model suggest that dilution may be particularly important in driving nitrate concentrations (Figure 7.2 and 7.3).

The impact of alterations in waste generation



Figure 7.3 Modeled dilution of dissolved nitrogen concentrations measured at farm "hot spots" described in Figure 7.2 and accompanying text, by groundwater flow [12].

and management practices is apparent in changes over time in nitrogen concentrations in samples from wells adjacent to the manure/bedding storage area and swine waste lagoon (Figure 7.4). At both locations, reduction in nitrogen concentrations began immediately following the elimination of the waste source (2013 for bedding and manure, and 2009 for the swine operations).



While total nitrogen concentrations measured in the wells adjacent to the barn and pad remain high, the form of nitrogen present has shifted (Figure 7.5), with a marked decrease in nitrate, but a simultaneous increase in dissolved organic nitrogen (DON).



Results also show that while nitrate levels are low on average in wells closest to the Lamprey River and in the creek draining from the farm to the river (Figure 7.2), concentrations in the creek are influenced by flow rate (Figure 7.6), with highest concentrations seen during periods of low flow.



#### Conclusions

This partial presentation of results from extensive studies measuring and modeling ground and surface water dynamics and nitrogen concentrations demonstrates the additional benefit of a covered composting system, such as the ASP/HRC system at the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm, in reducing nitrogen runoff into groundwater. The data also suggest that high concentrations of nitrogen generated by high density stock or waste areas can be diluted or processed in soils, wetlands and streams in adjacent, low-density areas such as those that occur in pasture-based systems with unmanaged land use buffers.

## Chapter 8: Nitrogen Cycling, Surplus and Use Efficiency at the Organic Dairy Research Farm - Impacts of Composting - Allison Leach and John Aber

## Introduction

Agricultural production is a major component of human impacts on the cycling of nitrogen at local to global scales, and reactive forms of nitrogen created through the production of fertilizers or combustion of fossil fuels can have "cascading" effects [36], affecting environmental quality during passage from atmosphere through soils to surface and ground waters. At the farm level, management of agricultural wastes, and especially animal manures, are a major factor in a farm's overall environmental impact [e.g. 39].

Our work at the UNH ODRF suggests that conventional approaches to manure management using static piles stored outside can enhance nitrogen leaching to groundwater as well as increased emissions of methane to the atmosphere (Chapters 1, 5 and 7). Composting, especially using the aerated static pile (ASP) method presented in Chapters 3-6, offers the potential to reduce both pollution vectors. Many of these improvements are related to housing the decomposing feedstock under cover in a building and controlling the decomposition process through continuous aeration.

An additional aspect of the long-term consequences of composting in terms of reducing nitrogen (N) pollution might best be assessed using a farm N budget and a range of compost export scenarios [118, 69, 10, 44, 25]. Specifically, exporting compost as an additional saleable product could remove excess nitrogen introduced in feeds, reducing the potential for emissions of waste N to waters or the atmosphere. In this chapter we present data on the nitrogen budget of the UNH ODRF and explore the impact of retaining or exporting produced compost on farm operations in terms of net nitrogen surplus (excess of external inputs over export in product) and nitrogen use efficiency (the percentage of nitrogen inputs exported in products).

## Farm nitrogen budgets and performance indicators

A complete farm N budget includes all transfers of nitrogen across the farm boundaries (inputs and outputs), as well as transfers among major parts of a farm (e.g. Figure 8.2). Farm N inputs can include fertilizer, feed, livestock, bedding, and biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) by legumes like clover in pastures. The farm N outputs are the farm products such as milk and sold cattle. In this chapter we also consider the impact of including the sale of compost as an additional product. Other N loss pathways, including leaching to surface or subsurface water or emissions to the atmosphere, can also be measured or estimated. The farm N budget approach has been used extensively in the technical literature to compare productivity and efficiency of different operations [118, 69, 55 22, 23, 25]. Two performance indicators are used most frequently: Nitrogen surplus and nitrogen use efficiency.

Nitrogen surplus is just the difference between N inputs and outputs, or the amount of nitrogen crossing the physical farm boundaries (Figure 8.2, 8.3). By convention, the amount of nitrogen added to a pasture-based dairy system through biological nitrogen fixation, primarily by legumes such as clover or alfalfa, is also included as an input. The fate of the N surplus is not always

clear depending on the level of detail in the budget calculations. Potential fates for the N surplus include storage on the property (with soil storage being the most likely reservoir in pasture systems) or loss to the environment (leaching to water or emissions to the atmosphere).

Nitrogen Use Efficiency (we will use NUE for this) is the percent of N invested into farm production (inputs) that makes it into the intended products (e.g., crops, milk, animals sold, and in this case, compost).

## Methods

The ODRF averages about 80-100 head of registered Jersey cows (Figure 8.1) including 40-50 milkers and the rest heifers, dry cows and calves. The farm property spans about 300 acres, including about 170 acres in woodlands and 110 acres in pastures and forage production (see description in Chapter 2). The farm is a USDA certified organic dairy operation. Lactating cows are on pasture from early May to early November, following USDA organic guidelines. Milkers' diet is augmented with a mixture of imported organic feed grains plus forage and baleage, most of which is produced on-site. The farm property has an open bedded pack barn for the cattle, storage barns, a step-up milking parlor, and the composting facility described in earlier chapters.



**Figure 8.1** Jerseys grazing at the University of New Hampshire Burley-Demeritt Organic Dairy Research Farm

Agricultural wastes generated at the ODRF are processed at the Joshua Nelson Energy Recovery Compost Facility (Chapter 3) and later applied to the pastures. Feedstock materials for composting include cow manure, bedded pack, waste baleage, and wood chips. Vapor drawn down through the composting materials and into the heat exchanger is at 100% relative humidity and is greatly enriched in carbon dioxide and ammonia (Chapter 5). After passing through the heat exchanger, this vapor stream is routed through a biofilter (Chapter 6). Condensation occurs as the vapor cools in the heat exchanger and the resulting liquid condensate is collected in a storage tank. Both the exhaust gases (Chapter 5) and the collected leachate are measurable parts of the nitrogen budget for the farm and are included in this analysis.

## Farm nitrogen budget

The ODRF nitrogen budget captures major flows into and out of the farm property as well as transfers between the three major components: Pasture, Animals and Barn, and the Composting Facility (Figure 8.2). Sources for the data used to develop the numbers in this figure are summarized in Table 8.1, and details on sources, methods and calculations can be found in [53].

Because a number of the largest nitrogen flows involve financial transfers as well, detailed information is available from the financial offices at UNH that oversee the farm. These include the purchase of grains, baleage and bedding, and the sale of milk and animals. Other minor inputs include atmospheric deposition and a small input from wood ash added as fertilizer to the pastures.

The largest input not measured directly is biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) by legumes in the pastures. This was estimated using a survey of pasture vegetation [40] to determine the percentage of alfalfa and clover in the pastures matched with average rates of nitrogen fixation by those types of vegetation drawn from the literature (see [53] for sources and methods).

Internal transfers include estimates for forage consumption on pasture as well as manure returned directly to pasture during grazing (based on number of animals, time spent on pasture, and average consumption rates from the literature and from feed records kept at the ODRF as part of the organic certification process), and measured harvest of baleage for later consumption.



**Figure 8.2** Nitrogen budget for the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm (pounds nitrogen per year). Figures in black are from direct measures or data available from purchase and sale information. Values in red are calculated based on assumptions described in the text.

The remaining major transfers involve the management and processing of the composting feedstock and system. During the years of SARE support, the composting operation was managed for research. This meant that the timing and amount of material actually processed varied from year to year, and did not always include all materials produced in the barns. For some trials, material was imported from the equine operations on the main campus in Durham. To better represent commercial operational conditions, we assume here that all of the manure/bedding mixture generated in the barn, and only that material, is transferred to the composting facility.

Data source	Farm nitrogen budget data sets					
Farm Operational and	Annual milk production and quality					
Financial Records:	• Livestock counts, types, and ages					
	• Feed grain purchases					
	• Baleage (on-site production and purchased)					
	• Pasture grazed by cattle					
	Purchased and sold livestock					
	• Bedding (purchased)					
	Manure production and management					
	Compost feedstock					
Other SARE-Related Research:	Compost exhaust gas emissions					
	• Leachate/condensate <sup>e</sup>					
	Compost production <sup>e</sup>					
	• Pasture vegetation survey/Literature fixation rates					
	• Groundwater and stream water nitrogen					
	concentrations <sup>d</sup>					
Data Shared From Other Projects at UNH:	• Atmospheric deposition (Shattuck, Pers. Comm.)					

**Table 8.1** Data sources for the farm nitrogen budget at the UNH Organic Dairy Research

 Farm.

The amount of compost feedstock generated then is best estimated by using well-measured inputs and outputs from the pasture system plus purchased grain, baleage and bedding fed to stock while in the barn. The first step is calculating the balance over the pasture. Including all of the inputs and outputs from pastures (excluding return of compost for now), there is a net transfer of 10,340 pounds per year to the stock and the barn. Adding to this the inputs of grains, purchased baleage and bedding, and understanding that the total amount of nitrogen in cows, heifers and calves will not change significantly year to year "Net: (0)", estimated transfer of nitrogen to the composting facility is 16,650 pounds N per year (Figure 8.2). This is consistent with the numbers on total weight of feedstock used in Chapter 9 to estimate total potential heat production and potential application to greenhouse warming.

Similarly, the net change in total nitrogen content in the composting facility will not change significantly year to year, relative to the amount of material being processed (again Net: (0)). In Chapter 5, the measured partitioning of nitrogen accompanying a 30% loss of mass over 21 days of decomposition was 87% retained in the compost product, 10% lost as ammonia gas, and 3% captured in leachate (Figure 5.3). Using these numbers, and assuming that all of the compost and leachate are returned to the pastures, there is an additional 14,990 pounds of nitrogen per year added to the fields. This results in a total excess nitrogen addition to pastures of 7,630 pounds N per year (Figure 8.2). The fate of this added nitrogen is discussed below.

#### Farm nitrogen performance indicators

The farm N budget results were used to calculate two N performance indicators (Figure 8.3) - N surplus and nitrogen use efficiency (or NUE) - for three different compost management options: returning all compost to pastures, or selling 25% or 50% of produced compost to off-farm buyers (Figure 8.3). N surplus was also calculated per unit area of pasture (110 acres).



**Figure 8.3** Nitrogen performance values for the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm (pounds nitrogen per year). See text for sources and explanation.

Nitrogen surplus is simply the amount of nitrogen imported on to the farm in grains, baleage, bedding, plus inputs from the atmosphere through deposition and nitrogen fixation by legumes in the pastures, minus exports in products. For the first set of calculations, exports are limited to milk and animals. For the second and third, additional export is calculated to include 25% or 50% of the compost produced on the farm. As shown in Figure 8.3, the surplus retained on site is much higher without the sale of compost (8,130 pounds N), and is reduced through the sale of 25% of compost (4508 pounds N) or 50% (885 pounds N). As this calculated surplus is assumed to accumulate on pastures by addition of non-sale compost to fields, surpluses are also calculated per acre of pasture (Figure 8.3).

Nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) is similarly affected by the sale of compost. Calculated assuming retention of all compost on site, the NUE is 28% meaning that only 28% of nitrogen entering the farm, with grains and baleage the primary purchased inputs, exits in milk and animals. Adding a 50% export of compost increases the total nitrogen in product from 3,830 to 11,095 pounds of nitrogen per year, and increases NUE from 28% to 81%. With the sale of 25% of produced compost, NUE is 55%.

What do these numbers mean for farm management, and how do they compare with other dairies? Answering the second question first, several recent papers in the scientific literature have done these calculations for a large number of farms, mainly in the U.S. Europe, New Zealand and Australia (Figure 8.4, see [53] for sources). Expressed as amount of nitrogen per unit area, the ODRF is among the lowest in terms of nitrogen inputs because it is pasture based, and so much of the nitrogen cycling through the milk production system is recycled through the pastures either by direct deposition of manure, or the return of compost to the fields. Those dairies with very high rates of N inputs and outputs per unit area would be increasingly confined systems with high inputs of grains and crops grown off-site.



**Figure 8.4** Nitrogen performance calculations for the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm in comparison with data from other dairies [25]. Ranges for both Nitrogen Use Efficiency (NUE) and Nitrogen Surplus are shown. See text for explanations.

Values for NUE fall within a fairly narrow range for all dairies (mostly from 20-40%, Figure 8.4). This is due to the inherent biological limitations of conversion of grains, baleage and pasture fodder to milk, and because milk and animals are the primary products in all cases shown on the graph. At 28% for the milk-only calculation, the ODRF is within this range, but a little below the average of 32%. The very high NUE when compost is included as an additional product results directly from offsetting the high inputs in grains and nitrogen fixation through an additional export of product. Other farms could achieve similar results if their waste management systems were solid manure systems with efficient composting, and a significant fraction of produced compost was sold.

In contrast to NUE, the calculated range for nitrogen surplus, expressed per unit area, increases with the intensity of inputs (Figure 8.4). The ODRF is lower in terms of surplus (66% below the average), again because of the extensive rather than intensive use of land area in pasture-based systems. Including 50% of compost as an additional product, the nitrogen surplus at the ODRF (8 pounds per acre) would be among the lowest in this data set, and total product export would exceed a target value set in the source publication (72 pounds per acre per year). With a 25% export of compost, the N surplus would be 41 pounds per acre).

What do these numbers mean for farm management, in terms of both economic and environmental sustainability? Are there upper or lower limits to NUE and N surplus that would be in keeping with good management practices?

As a first approximation, higher NUE and lower surplus would appear to be both economically and environmentally favorable. Nitrogen inputs in terms of grain purchases or fertilizer amendments to fields (if any) cost money, so making the most effective use of those inputs should increase financial returns (we realize that this is an extremely oversimplified view of the complex topic of cow nutrition and milk production!). Reducing the nitrogen surplus should also reduce the chance for increased nitrate concentrations in surface and ground water.

Two major uncertainties in the budget presented in Figure 8.2 might urge caution in these judgements.

The largest unknown is biological nitrogen fixation (BNF). While this process is very well documented and understood physiologically, the actual rate of fixation has been shown to be highly variable, and dependent on rates of either fertilizer N addition or natural release of nitrogen through the decomposition of soil organic matter (54, 102).

The second important uncertainty is the fate of nitrogen added to pasture soils through BNF, direct manure deposition, or by returning compost to the fields. Figure 8.2 suggests a very large return of N to the fields if compost is not sold. This is the other side of reduced NUE and an increased N surplus. If the numbers in Figure 8.2 are accurate, then a question is: how much of this added N can be stored in the soil and for how long, and how much might be leached to groundwater or lost to the atmosphere through denitrification? These last two processes can have very different environmental outcomes. Nitrogen leached to groundwater can impair water quality. If most of the denitrified N is converted to unreactive nitrogen gas  $(N_2)$  and emitted to

the atmosphere it will have no impact (See [36 and 53] for a more complete discussion of the fates and impacts of other gaseous forms of nitrogen in general and at the ODRF).

Groundwater well data (Chapter 7) show that past practices have resulted in nitrogen "hot spots" on the farm, but also suggest that these excesses are either diluted effectively, or subjected to denitrification, such that impacts off-farm are minimal. To the extent that this is the case, the extensive application of excess nitrogen in the form of compost over the relatively large area of the farm would not appear to present serious environmental problems.

If actual rates of nitrogen fixation are lower than shown in Figure 8.2, and/or if soil retention of nitrogen added in manures and compost is lower as well, it is conceivable that aggressive sale of compost off-site could result in the "mining" of the nitrogen capital in pasture soils, reducing future nitrogen availability and forage and baleage production. Unfortunately, measuring accurately either soil nitrogen content or rates of release through decomposition are among the most expensive of soil assessments, requiring large numbers of samples due to natural variability. These uncertainties might argue for a conservative approach to selling compost as an additional product from the ODRF.

On the other hand, the revenue to be realized from the sale of compost can be an important offset to the cost of grains. In the first application of an ASP/HRC system at Diamond Hill Farm in Vermont (a heifer operation, not a dairy), sale of compost added significantly to farm revenues (104). As seen both at Diamond Hill, and in the information presented in Chapters 3, 4 and 9, cost reduction in farm operations by capturing heat from the ASP/HRC system could also improve the farm's bottom line.

## Conclusions

As a pasture-based system, the UNH ODRF has a comparable-to-low whole farm nitrogen use efficiency (NUE - 28%) compared to other dairy farms (32% average), but N surplus per unit area is also much lower – about 66% less than the average (Figures 8.3 and 8.4). This means that any N losses are spread over a much larger land area and are less likely to contribute to negative environmental impacts. NUE could be increased and N surplus could be reduced significantly by selling compost off-site as an additional product of the farm, but uncertainties in the N budget calculations, especially for biological nitrogen fixation, and the fate of compost added to fields, suggests caution to avoid mining of soil N. The compost produced could be more valuable as a soil amendment to increase pasture productivity, than as a saleable product

# Chapter 9: Putting Compost Energy to Work for Sustainable Agriculture: The University of New Hampshire as a Case Study – John Aber, Dena Hoffman and Matthew Smith

## Introduction

The New England Food Renaissance is a term that has been used to describe the rapid changes in consumer preferences and food production systems happening in the region. Farm to table restaurants and farmers' markets have proliferated, and the availability of locally sourced and organic products has increased in mainstream supermarkets as well [19]. Most New England states are highly ranked on a national "Locavore" index [100, 32], and the region hosts the highest density of farmers markets in the country [73].

One manifestation of this change is captured in the New England Food Vision, which has proposed a goal (named 50 by 60) of producing 50% of the region's food requirements within the region by the year 2060 [33]. The 50 by 60 goal promotes sustainable agriculture and fishing as well as healthy food for all of New England. Achieving this goal with existing farm practices would require a tripling in the amount of agricultural acreage.

The New England food renaissance has also led to more interest among college-age students in agriculture education, especially at the Land Grant Universities in the region [64], and an increase in the number of farms, especially new, small, specialty producers [33, 115]. In a region rich in non-profit organizations and state agencies reflecting cultural values and high expectations for landscape preservation and environmental quality, minimizing the environmental footprint of the food production system is a parallel requirement.

Given this cultural and economic context, a focus on sustainable agricultural practices with an emphasis on local production would seem to be an essential part of fulfilling the Land Grant mission for public research institutions in New England.

Short growing seasons are a major challenge for increasing food production in New England, and this has led to increased interest in the use of high tunnels and greenhouses to extend seasons and control growing conditions. While greenhouses tend to be glass-enclosed structures with permanent frames, high tunnels are often simple plastic covers over a temporary or moveable frame. All possible combinations and variations of these kinds of structures can be built [114]. Major private and public investments in these types of structures, which can be especially viable for organic produce production [e.g. 41], are occurring across the region [e.g. 16].

With additional heating, greenhouse production can be maintained year-round, particularly for cool season crops not requiring high light levels. In the long winters in New England, meeting the energy requirement for heat can be expensive, often making a 12-month season cost-prohibitive. Matching ASP/HRC systems with adjacent high tunnels or greenhouses offers the potential to reduce heating costs. It may also be possible to access some of the carbon dioxide produced by the composting process to fertilize plant growth.

Using compost as a source of energy and carbon dioxide for greenhouse operations is not a new idea. In the northeastern U.S., two organizations have done the most to advance and promote

this concept, and the information generated by these two is captured in two publications that are now widely available.

Beginning in the 1970s, New Alchemy Institute on Cape Cod, Massachusetts, developed a prototype of a self-contained system for growing food and recycling wastes (the "Ark"). One component of that system was a compost/greenhouse combination. Work in the Ark has provided a basis for continuing efforts to link composting with food production. Much of the information generated by this work is captured in Fulford [35]. That report covers both heat and carbon dioxide generation in a greenhouse with an embedded compost pile, as well as information on biofilters to remove ammonia, and tests of crop production. While our system differs in that the composting facility is adjacent to, rather than embedded within the greenhouse, the concept of using compost to heat a greenhouse is the same.

More recently, Brown [9] provides a full review of different approaches to energy capture from composting, and the application of compost outputs to greenhouse production. Topics include the isobar system used in the UNH composting system [90], as well as smaller-scale Jean Pain systems. Information on greenhouse design and compost feedstocks is also included. This source contains information on the small number of very recent efforts to integrate composting and greenhouse production. This publication is one output of the work at the Highfields Center for Composting.

Interestingly, the concept of compost-powered greenhouses appears rarely in the academic literature. A thorough review of heat capture by Smith et al [94], noted two references, from 1977 and 1995, that report results for compost heated greenhouses. In contrast, several popular websites now touch on the topic of compost and greenhouses, most of which link back to either the New Alchemy or Highfields work. A quick web search returns many links to companies and products that relate to small-scale composting paired with greenhouses, and the presence of at least one informal network of practitioners [19].

Can farmers in the northeast extend their season of production, and reduce both the cost and carbon footprint of heating these structures by combining ASP/HRC composting with greenhouse production? Again, given the trajectory of agriculture in New England, answering this question would seem to be an essential part of the Land Grant mission.

## The University of New Hampshire Case Study

The University of New Hampshire is a recognized leader in the development and application of sustainable practices [113]. Over the last decade, it has also invested in and expanded both teaching and research in sustainable agriculture [111]. One important component of that research is directed at increasing the value and productivity of high tunnel greenhouses through crop selection, management techniques, breeding programs, and extension of the growing season [e.g. 110]. Research efforts have focused on cool season greens, fruits and berries, and even crops fairly exotic for the region, like kiwis. Harvested crops, including Brussel sprouts, tomatoes, eggplants, green peppers, okra, radishes, beets, and lettuce are used in the UNH dining halls or at the on-campus restaurant, the UNH Dairy Bar.

UNH has supported a conventional composting program for more than 30 years. Currently, food wastes from the dining halls are combined with barn wastes from the on-campus equine program to generate nearly 1,000 tons of compostable material per year. The conventional method used for composting this material includes the use of windrow piles in which materials are turned roughly once a week for the first month, and then left to cure for the next year, with occasional turning thereafter. Windrow composting operations are still the most common commercial operation in the US. If they are a registered operation that export material off-site, then they also have to comply with the requirements that the pile achieve at least 130°F for at least 15 days with 5 turns of the pile over that period of time [9]. While materials managed in this way generate heat sufficient for producing optimal compost, options for heat capture are limited [95].

UNH and the Town of Durham in which it resides cooperate in providing many basic services, including water supply, waste water management and fire and rescue, among others. In keeping with its own culture and goals for environmental quality, Durham is considering adding composting of organic wastes, an increasing choice around the region, and standard practice throughout much of Europe. In this analysis, we estimate the impact of a joint town/UNH composting operation.

The potential seems to exist to reduce both the operating costs of the UNH composting program, and the cost of heating the set of high tunnel greenhouses if it is possible to link an ASP/HRC system to at least some of the high tunnels on campus. Such a step should also enhance the overall sustainability of operations on campus, and help maintain UNH's standing as a leader in this field.

The goal of the analysis reported here is to test the feasibility of a composting/greenhouse linkage using real information from UNH. The analysis involved four steps.

1) Estimate the quantity of compostable material that could serve as feedstock for an ASP/HRC system located on the UNH campus. This could include on-campus material, as well as barn wastes from the Organic Dairy Research Farm 7 miles from campus, and possibly organic wastes generated by the Town of Durham.

2) Estimate the amount of heat energy that could be derived from this material using a variety of approaches drawn from the literature, and based on results from the UNH ASP/HRC system. This includes values for systems with and without a heat storage water tank.

3) Access data from the UNH Energy Office to estimate the amount of heat energy required by high tunnel and research greenhouses on campus, and match that with results from step 2 to assess the potential value of compost heat in both extending the growing season in on-campus greenhouses and reducing heat energy costs.

4) Generalize these results and provide a framework for analysis by practitioners, by combining the calculations from step 2 with a simple model of energy balances for a greenhouse paired with and ASP/HRC system.

### Methods

#### 1. Data on Sources of Compostable Material and Current Management Practices

Data on compostable materials are available from the UNH equine facility, the Organic Dairy Research Farm, and UNH Dining operations, as well as a potential source of organic materials from the Town of Durham (Table 9.1).

Table 9.1 Compostable material available (wet tons). Sources: UNH Dining and Equine Programs, Durham Solid Waste Committee.								
Source	per month	# of months	Total					
Food waste	30	9	270					
Equine 2	60	12	12 720					
On campus total	990							
ODRF	68	12	816					
<b>UNH</b> Total				1806				
Durham	30	12	360					
Community Tota	ıl			2166				

The equine facility at UNH cares for a number of horses housed in stalls with bedding materials such as hay and wood shavings, and generates a substantial amount of manure/bedding material (Brenda Hess-McAskill, personal communication). Numerous composting trials at the UNH ASP/HRC facility using equine bedding materials generated higher pile temperatures than trials with material from the ODRF barn alone (Matt Smith, personal communication).

UNH dining operates dining halls that, despite programs to reduce this stream, produce large amounts of food waste. An estimate for food wastes created at the three largest dining halls (Holloway, Philbrook and Stillings) is 270 tons per year, with maximum amounts produced during spring and fall semesters, and lesser amounts during January term and summer. Food wastes are sent through an industrial grinder, which reduces particle size and also moisture content. This material is then transported by truck about once per week to Kingman Farm.

Food wastes are combined with manure/bedding from the equine facility and composted using a conventional turned-pile process. Kingman Farm personnel create and maintain windrow piles approximately 10 ft wide, 4.5 ft high, and 200 - 300 ft long using an industrial-scale compost turner. Each windrow is turned every 2 to 3 weeks during the active composting phase, and less frequently during the curing stage. After one to two years the finished compost is spread on UNH fields.

The UNH ASP/HRC system is located at the Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF), part of the Burley-Demeritt Farm in Lee, NH. The ODRF houses an average of 40-50 milking cows at any one time, and a total of about 100 animals, including calves, heifers and dry cows. The bedded pack barn at this facility generates about 68 tons of waste per month, or a total of 816 tons per calendar year. Totals are higher during the winter, and lower in the summer when cows spend most of their time on pasture.

One possible additional source of material for composting on campus could be the town of Durham, which is considering the separation of compostable organic materials from the general refuse collection system. According to town sources, as much as 25% of the Town's current waste stream could be compostable, for an estimate of 360 tons per calendar year.

## 2. Estimating Total Potential Energy Generation from Compost

ASP/HRC systems are a relatively new technology and there are few studies that report heat generation capacity for commercial scale operations. In addition, the few papers available that present data on heat recovery from compost [95] often report rates per hour under ideal conditions, or do not include data on the amount of material composted, or the duration and timing of aeration. This makes it difficult to extrapolate from those studies to an annual potential energy yield from a given amount of compostable material. The most frequently cited number is 1.4 MMBTU (million BTU) of heat energy generated per ton of material [18, 19]. This number is for energy released, not necessarily energy captured and used.

Here we pursue three different methods for estimating not only the amount of heat energy that can be generated, but the fraction of that energy that can be captured and put to use. For each method, we assume an annual throughput at the ASP/HRC facility of 1 new load (one of 4 pairs of bays filled) each month. An average load is ~68 tons wet weight, giving an annual total of 816 tons of material, wet weight. Average holding time for each load would be 1 month. Observations at this facility suggest that composting will reduce total material weight by 20% to 40%. In Chapter 5 (Figure 5.3) we show that a 22 days composting cycle resulted in about a 25% loss of carbon. We assume here that a 1 month cycle will result in a 35% loss of both total carbon and total weight.

One approach to estimating total potential heat generation and capture is to begin with the total energy content of compostable material, and multiply that by the fraction of that material generally decomposed in the composting process. Matt Smith (unpublished) used bomb calorimetry and measured the energy content of material generated at the ODRF as equivalent to 14.4 MMBTU/ton of oven dry material. Assuming a 50% water content in that material yields 7.2 MMBTU/ton of wet material. The lower estimate of 20% weight loss would yield 1.4 MMBTU/ton, equivalent to that most frequently cited value above. At 35% weight loss, the total energy released would be 2.45 MMBTU/ton. At 816 tons total per year, this means an energy release of ~ 2,000 MMBTU per year, or ~ 5.5 MMBTU per day.

A second approach is to work up from the measured rates of energy capture at the UNH ASP/HRC. In Chapter 4 we report maximum energy capture rates ~200,000 BTU per day for one pair of bays. With 4 sets of bays in the facility, maximum energy capture could reach ~800,000 BTU/day at full capacity. This translates to 292 MMBTU per year.

A third approach is essentially a computational check on the second. Based on the model discussed in Chapter 4, which takes basic measurements from the ASP/HRC facility used above and combines them with the same assumptions about pile temperature and aeration time used for the first two methods, energy capture can approach 200,000 BTU/day under ideal conditions (Table 4.1). With 4 sets of bays, a daily total of ~800,000 BTU/day or about 292 MMBTU per year, is possible.

These values represent a relatively small faction of the estimated total energy release of ~5.5 MMBTU/day (see Table 9.2 below). Why would this value be so low? We have noted two possible reasons for this. The first is that a system using a heat storage tank is inefficient as the heat recovery rate decreases as the difference in heat source and sink approaches zero. Even at relatively low tank water temperatures, exhaust gases from the facility are often elevated relative to ambient conditions (Figure 4.1). A second possible reason would be insufficient insulation around the bulk storage tank itself, which loses energy especially during the cold winter months (Table 4.1).

It is possible to eliminate both of these issues through direct piping of compost vapor to the attached structure, and using standard heat exchange pipes or radiators to capture the heat of condensation as the vapor cools to greenhouse temperature (as the vapor can be corrosive, stainless steel materials might be required). How might this work in the UNH case, and how much might this approach increase total energy capture?

The method for estimating potential heat capture by this process is very different. We assume that vapor from the compost facility is piped directly to the greenhouse and then through standard baseboard heat types of piping within the structure, with enough length of pipe in the greenhouse to reduce the temperature of the vapor to that of the target temperature in the structure. As the temperature drops, vapor will condense within the pipes, releasing energy to the structure. The calculations that follow assume that all of that condensation occurs within the heating pipes within the greenhouse.

This calculation requires that, in addition to vapor temperature, the total volume of vapor passing through the condensation system be known. Data on rate of air movement through the UNH ASP/HRC system (cubic feet per minute) was recorded continuously as part of the data acquisition system. Knowing the volume of vapor moving through the pipes per unit time as well as the temperature, and assuming 100% relative humidity (saturation) in the vapor stream, the total weight of water in the vapor stream can be calculated using a standard relationship between temperature and total amount vapor content at saturation [17, 29]. As the temperature drops to the target temperature in the greenhouse, the vapor remains at saturation, and moisture condenses in the pipes. The total amount of condensation in the pipes can be calculated as the difference between saturated moisture content at the vapor and greenhouse temperatures. Then the amount of energy released can be calculated using a standard value for the energy released through condensation of water (1060 BTU/pound, [17, 29]). Figure 9.1 is a screenshot of the spreadsheet used to calculate the amount of energy released by condensation according to these calculations.

It may be that vapor temperatures in the heating pipes cannot be reduced to the temperature in the greenhouse, as heat transfer becomes very slow when the differential between pipes and ambient air in the structure approaches zero. In this case, the following calculations would relate to the lowest temperature achievable in the pipes.

Estimating the total heat generation from condensation of water vapor in Compost Exhuast Stream Assumptions

1. Vapor is at 100% relative humidity

2. Potential heat capture is from energy released by condensation

3. Vapor will reach greenhouse air temperature and exchange released heat into greenhouse air before venting



Figure 9.1. Daily estimates of heat release by condensation of vapor drawn from compost piles by the ASP/HRC system at UNH (see text for explanation).

Data from two different compost trials at the UNH ASPHC system were used to generate estimates of heat energy that could be captured using these assumptions (Figure 9.2). The two were chosen as they varied widely in terms of initial temperature, change in temperature over time, change in amount of air drawn through the piles and amount of energy released. It is important to note that each of these two data sets are for just one of 4 sets of bays in the facility. At full operation, potential heat capture could be up to 4 times those presented here. Note also that the second pile generates more captured heat than the first (Figure 9.2) even with a lower pile temperature, due to higher total volume of airflow. This again emphasizes the concept that the kind of system visualized here might be managed differently to maximize heat gain rather than rate of throughput of material.





Over the first 35 days (for comparison with results from the first three methods), the first trial averaged ~1 MMBTU heat energy capture per day. The second trial averaged closer to 1.2 MMBTU per day. These values are again for one of four sets of bays in the facility, yielding estimates of 4.0 to 4.8 MMBTU per day at full capacity. Using the lower of these two values, potential efficiency of heat capture appears to be much higher for the direct use of heated vapor (Table 9.2).

	MMBTU/day	Efficiency
Estimated Energy Release	5.5	
Energy Capture by Method		
With Heat Exchanger	0.8	15%
Direct Use	4.0	73%

Table 9.2 Comparison of apparent efficiency of heat capture as measured at the UNH ASP/HRC system (with heat exchanger) and estimated for a direct use system involving condensation of vapor in baseboard/type heating pipes in a greenhouse or other structure.

#### 3. Estimating Energy Requirements for Greenhouse Heating on an Annual Basis

Data are available from the UNH Energy Office on the quantity of heat required for year-round operation of three different high tunnel/greenhouse systems, one at Kingman Farm and two adjacent to the Fairchild Dairy (Table 9.3). Data are recorded as "therms" of propane, with a therm being equivalent to 100,000 BTUs. Kingman #5 is actually a set of 3 steel frame houses with double-wall polycarbonate cover, used as part of the aquaponics/lettuce production system described above. The Fairchild high tunnels are covered in sheet plastic. The average annual total for energy demand is about 3125 therms (312.5 MMBTU) per greenhouse per year.

Table 9.3. Annual Energy Requirement for high tunnel greenhouses (Propane Therms : 1 Therm = $\sim 100.000$ BTUs)								
Fiscal Year	Fairchild #1	Kingman #5	Fairchild #3					
2015	4,378.30							
2016	2,754.70							
2017	3,112.90							
2018	3,442.00	9,657.00						
2019	3,654.30	6,412.40	4,084.40					

Data from Tables 9.1 - 9.3 can be used to determine the potential for heating UNH greenhouses with available compostable materials and an ASP/HRC composting system. Amounts of material in Table 9.1 are combined with energy release and efficiencies of capture with a heat exchanger or by direct use (Table 9.2) to determine the total amount of energy captured. These values are divided by the annual heat demand for a greenhouse at UNH (Table 9.3) to produce an index of the number of units that could be heated. The estimates for direct use assume a target greenhouse temperature of 60F (Table 9.4).

Table 9.4 Pote greenhouses of	ential energ on the UNH	gy generation in 1 I campus. Mater	relationship ial values fr	to annual hea om Table 7.1	at energy demand	l for high tun om Table 7.2	nel 2.
					Greenhouse		
Source	Material	Total Energy	Total Energ	y Captured	Heat Demand	Greenhouse	es Heated
		Release	Exchange	r Direct		Exchanger	Direct
	Tons	MMBTU/yr	MMBTU	per year	MMBTU/year		
On-Campus	990	2,425	364	1770	312.5	1.2	5.7
All UNH	1806	4,425	664	3230		2.1	10.3
Plus Durham	2166	5,307	796	3874		2.5	12.4

#### 4. A Generalized Model of an integrated Compost/Greenhouse System

Data at the annual time step as presented above provide a rough assessment of the potential for compost energy to heat greenhouses at UNH. However, for this combination of technologies to be successful, the timing of energy supply and energy demand must coincide. To allow this more detailed analysis, a model of energy demand based on high-resolution weather data was developed and linked to measured rates of energy generation and capture described above.

The model was constructed in Excel to increase accessibility to practitioners and general audiences. The model includes 1) an hourly time step calculation of solar energy gain and heat losses through the greenhouse surfaces and by air turnover, 2) a summation of hourly data to daily totals, and 3) the addition of heat energy from a module estimating heat capture from compost using the analysis presented here. Calculations are summed at a daily timestep. The size of both the simulated greenhouse and the composting facility can be modified in the model to test different potential combinations of facilities. The spreadsheet model is available from the first author of this chapter.

Characterization of the greenhouse as well as target internal temperature and example hourly calculations are summarized in Figure 9.3. Length, width, and sidewall and peak height values are used to calculate the surface area of the cover and the internal volume of the structure. The type of cover is defined along with the energy exchange characteristics of that cover. The target internal temperature is specified. It should be noted that this temperature is actually the final temperature in the heating pipes before the vapor exits the system. Again, the actual temperature in the greenhouse may be lower if the exhaust vapor cannot be reduced to the internal temperature, as discussed above.

For this example, hourly meteorological data were acquired from a station located at Kingman Farm, ~3 miles from the UNH campus [109]. Weather data are combined with greenhouse dimensions and cover characteristics to estimate solar energy gain and heat loss through the cover and by air exchange, yielding an energy balance for the structure (Figure 9.3).

#### Model of Greenhouse Energy Demand and Potential Heat from the ODRF Composting Facility

Greenhouse Constants						
Dimensions (feet)			Cover			
Length 40	Sidewall H	lt 6	Туре		Polycarbonate	
Width 40	Peak H	lt 6	Rate of Heat Tr	ansfer U	0.634	BTU/ft2.hr
			Light Transmisi	ivitv I	0.82	no units
Surface Area of the Cover (Ac)	2990	ft2	Air Exchange p	arameter C	0.50	per hour*ft3*F
Floor Area (Af)	1600	ft 2	Sun Angle Effer	nt B	1.00	
Internal Volume (V)	14400	43	Sull Angle Eller		1.00	
internal volume (v)	14400	11.5				
Onerational Coal						
Operational Goal						
Internal Temperature (TI)	60	F				
Meteorologi	cal Data		Energy In	Cover Loss	Exchange Loss	Hourly Balance
	(To) Ti-To	( <b>8</b> *I)				Energy in
	Tdiff	SW Wind	( <i>8</i> • I • Af)	U*Ac*Tdiff	0.018*V*C*Tdiff	- Cover Loss
Date Time Day Run Hour	Temperature	Radiation Speed	1			- Exchange Loss
	(F) (F)	3TU/ft2.h ft/sec	BTU/hr	BTU/hr	BTU/hr	BTU/hr
1/1/2014 1:00 1 1	10.3 49.7	0.0 0.18	0	94,209	6,440	-100,649
1/1/2014 2:00 1 2	9.9 50.1	0.0 0.23	0	94,926	6,489	-101,415
1/1/2014 3:00 1 3	14.1 45.9	0.0 0.28	0	87,009	5,948	-92,956
1/1/2014 4:00 1 4	13.8 46.2	0.0 0.35	0	87,623	5,990	-93,613
1/1/2014 5:00 1 5	13.6 46.4	0.0 0.51	0	87,964	6,013	-93,977

Figure 9.3. Sample inputs and outputs from a simple greenhouse energy balance model. See text for explanation.

Hourly balances for each day were summed over the 24-hour period to calculate total energy gain and loss. These values were paired with estimated energy capture from two sets of measured data drawn from 2 different trials at the UNH ASPHC facility (Figures 9.1 and 9.2), and a total daily estimated energy net gain or loss calculated for each day (Figure 9.4).

		Dai	ily Balance (B	TU/day)			Energy From Compost Potential (BTU/day)				System Balance BTU/Day
Day	Avg Tdiff	Solar Gain	Cover Loss	Exch Loss	Total Loss	Total Balance	Trial 1	Trial 2	Total		
1	44	853,500	-1,995,042	-136,374	-2,131,416	-1,277,916	699,212	1,874,58	1 2,573,792		1,295,876
2	56	184,930	-2,537,525	-173,456	-2,710,981	-2,526,051	647,028	1,338,62	8 1,985,657		-540,394
3	58	618,130	-2,620,488	-179,127	-2,799,615	-2,181,485	591,535	1,343,03	2 1,934,568		-246,917
4	54	873,351	-2,439,137	-166,731	-2,605,867	-1,732,517	626,942	1,383,28	8 2,010,230		277,713
5	40	943,562	-1,805,432	-123,413	-1,928,845	-985,283	652,135	1,350,54	6 2,002,681		1,017,397
6	21	126,935	-938,641	-64,162	-1,002,803	-875,868	667,116	1,395,43	0 2,062,545		1,186,678

Figure 9.4 Daily total energy balances estimated for the first 6 days in January 2014 including estimated energy availability from an ASPHC facility of the size at UNH (see text for explanation).

We used data from a colder-than-average January (2014) to compare estimated greenhouse requirements with potential heat capture from 2 pairs of bays UNH ASP/HRC system with direct use (Figure 9.5). The top graph shows the net energy balance for an unheated greenhouse specified as in Figure 9.3. Solar gain was insufficient to heat the greenhouse on every day of the month.

The bottom graph adds heat input from the two pairs of bays described in Figure 9.2. With only two of the four pairs of bays, the greenhouse energy balance is positive on all but one extremely cold day. A small amount of supplemental heat would be required to maintain temperatures of 60F and above. Lowering that target greenhouse temperature to 50F would create a positive balance for all days.



## **E.** Conclusions

In this chapter we assess the potential for heating high tunnel greenhouses on the UNH campus using heat energy generated by an ASP/HRC system in a total of four ways.

Results suggest large differences in heating capacity based on the method used to capture the heat generated by the facility, with the efficiency of the direct use option apparently up to 5 times that of the heat exchanger/storage approach. Using a heat exchanger and water heat storage tank,

1-2 high tunnels could be heated using campus-only or campus plus ODRF and Durham sources, respectively. With the direct use approach, an estimated 5-10 high tunnels could be heated. It should be stressed that the direct use estimates needs to be tested in a real application.

A model of greenhouse energy balances is presented that offers the potential for a more detailed analysis using an hourly-to-daily time step. This simple spreadsheet model could be of value to practitioners who need to know not only annual balances, but the management steps that would be needed to maintain greenhouse conditions within acceptable bounds under extreme conditions caused by daily weather fluctuations.

Results presented here suggest that it would be valuable to undertake a physical trial of the direct use method of linking an ASP/HRC system with one or more existing high tunnels on the UNH campus.

#### Epilogue - Composting and High Tunnels at UNH: A Modest Proposal – John Aber

The agroecosystem research summarized in this set of chapters was never intended as a purely academic exercise. From the beginning, in keeping with the goals of the USDA Sustainable Agriculture Research Education (SARE) program and the Land Grant Mission of UNH, we hoped to provide information and new approaches that would increase the sustainability of organic dairies in New England. While a wide variety of topics has been examined, including alternative energy sources, innovative management of farm woodlots, dairy farmer preferences and practices for bedding, water and nitrogen usage and cycles (all summarized on the project website [1]), two ideas appear to have potentially valuable applications in the farm operations at UNH, and perhaps to farms across the region.

The first is the use of the wood shaving machine to produce bedding. Results from that work suggest that there is a business opportunity for producing bedding from low quality softwoods if that enterprise is embedded in a concentrated dairy farming region. For farmers wanting to produce bedding for on-farm purposes, the breakeven volume of bedding was found to be dairy operations with greater than 170 milkers [96]. Our survey of dairy farms across New England revealed that most farms had woodlots, and the average size of those woodlots was sufficient to provide bedding for those farms. The value of low quality softwoods as bedding far exceeds its value as pulp. The quantitative financial analysis in Smith et al [96] provides a basis for planning a bedding production enterprise, which could be a regional cooperative, a profit-making venture, or a large farm operation, either dairy or equine, with sufficient bedding demand.

The second system, and one that may have real potential for UNH, is the Aerated Static Pile/Heat Recovery Composting (ASP/HRC) system. Chapter 9 tallies the available organic waste resources on and near campus, and pairs the estimated heat energy yield with measured energy requirements for high tunnel greenhouses on campus. The comparison is so positive and favorable, that a proposal to test the idea at the campus agricultural facilities seems warranted.

A major hinderance to advancing this possibility is the known initial cost of the current ASP/HRC system at the Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF). That facility was designed with research-quality infrastructure and to the University's 100-year lifetime standard. At \$550,000, the cost is prohibitive for implementation across other agricultural locations on campuses with similar building requirements.

However, our earliest research on this approach (Chapter 1) demonstrated that low-cost alternatives are also capable of generating high temperatures in compost vapors. Can a low-cost alternative to the research-grade facility at the ODRF be designed and paired with high tunnel greenhouses on campus? Results in Chapters 4 and 9 suggest that the answer is yes. What might such a system look like, what would it cost, and how much energy might be generated to heat those structures? In addition, how much money might be saved by removing the need to tend and turn compost as handled in the existing conventional, windrow-based system in use at UNH? Is there reputational value in applying advanced composting methods to the handling of campus wastes, as has been done at the University of Maine [108]? Here we can only begin to suggest some answers to these questions using information from the agricultural facilities in place at UNH.

## **Opportunities for Linking ASP/HRC Composting to High Tunnels at UNH**

Four potential opportunities can be identified for linking ASP/HRC composting with existing or envisioned high tunnels on farms operated by the New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station (NHAES) and UNH: 1) Add a simplified ASP/HRC system to an existing high tunnel with a heat storage water tank and reversible heat pumps, 2) Include a simplified ASP/HRC system in plans for construction of two new high tunnels adjacent to the Fairchild Dairy, 3) Add a simplified ASP/HRC system to three relatively new greenhouses at Kingman Farm, the location of the current composting program, and 4) Construct a high tunnel over or adjacent to the biofilter area already in place at the ASP/HRC system at the Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF). Each of these concepts provides opportunities for faculty and student research.

# 1) Add a simplified ASP/HRC system to an existing high tunnel with a heat storage water tank and reversible heat pumps,

A high tunnel located at the Woodman Farm and used by the Organic Gardening Club was the location for a research project by a now-departed faculty member who partnered with a local sustainable energy company to test the potential for using reversible heat pumps to buffer internal temperatures during shoulder seasons. The installation included a large water storage tank adjacent to the high tunnel and two reversible heat pumps located inside (Figure 66).



Figure E.1 Left: Image of a high tunnel at Woodman Farm with insulated water heat storage tank used to capture heat removed from the structure and then as a source for the heat pumps within the structure. Right: Two reversible air-to-water heat pumps inside the high tunnel pictured at left. See text for additional explanation.

The purpose of the tank and reversible air-to-water heat pumps was to extract heat from hot air in the high tunnel during periods of high solar input and high temperatures in the structure, and store that heat in warmed water in the insulated tank. At night or during cloudy or cold periods, the warmed water in the tank could be used as the heat source to be multiplied by the reversible heat pumps, producing warmed air for the high tunnel.

The efficiency of heat pumps in heating mode is related to the temperature of the heat source to be multiplied (although there are operational upper limits to this temperature source). While this application fell short of what was envisioned, the concept of using a much warmer water source would seem to have potential.

Behind the high tunnel and water storage tank is a large, flat, sandy area that is ideally constructed for composting. The concept presented here is to use this space for a simplified ASP/HRC system that is vented into the insulated box containing the water tank in order to heat the water in that tank (Figure E.2). With this warmer water source, the efficiency of the heat pumps, to be operated then only in air-heating mode, should be increased.



Figure E.2 A simplified ASP/HRC system like the one pictured (Left) would be placed on the sandy pad area behind this high tunnel. Vapor would be piped through the structure housing the insulated water tank to increase water temperature in the tank. The existing heat pumps in the structure would draw on this warm water source to operate at high efficiency in producing warm air for the structure.

Cost for implementation of this concept should be relatively low. The ASP system pictured is decidedly low-tech. The heat pumps and high tunnel are in place. Some engineering would be involved in connecting the vapor flow from the compost into the insulated shed, and, as with all application, providing for outflow of condensate produced during heat transfer. The on-campus location and tie to the Organic Garden Club should assure high student interest and participation.

# 2) Include a simplified ASP/HRC system in plans for construction of two new high tunnels adjacent to the Fairchild Dairy

UNH has approved funds for construction of two new high tunnels adjacent to the Fairchild Dairy. During construction, a small space would be reserved for baseboard-like heating pipes within the structure (Figure E.3). A simplified ASP system would be located adjacent to the structures and heated vapor from the composting system would be pumped through these pipes as needed to warm the structure. Again, providing for outflow of condensate would be required.

Adding the heat transfer pipes and preparing a site like that near the high tunnel in option 1 to support the simplified ASP system should not represent a substantial increase in the cost of the structures themselves.



Figure E.3. Conceptual diagram of a high tunnel/greenhouse system heated by direct piping of vapor from an ASP system into heat transfer pipes within the structure.

# 3) Add a simplified ASP/HRC system to three relatively new greenhouses at Kingman Farm

The concept here is the same as for 2 above, but would include the addition of a connection from the ASP system to the greenhouses and the addition of heating pipes within the structures. One potential advantage of this concept is that the houses are located near the current composting operation at Kingman Farm. In addition, the houses have been used for an innovative project involving raising of tilapia through aquaculture techniques, with wastes from the fish tanks being processed in part by use in a hydroponic system for growing lettuce (Figure E.4 [66]).



Figure E.4. Lettuce growing in a hydroponic system used in part to process wastes from an aquaculture project [66].

# 4) Construct a high tunnel adjacent to the biofilter area already in place adjacent to the ASP/HRC system at the Organic Dairy Research Farm (ODRF).

This may be the simplest option in that all of the infrastructure for composting and energy extraction is in place, as we all an operational biofilter (see Chapter 6 and Figure E.5). All that would be required for this application is the construction of a new high tunnel adjacent to the biofilter. An optimal configuration might route the compost vapor through baseboard-like heating pipes in the added greenhouse first, followed by passage through the biofilter.

Figure E.5. The biofilter in place at the Organic Dairy Research Farm (see Chapter 6).



## **Challenges Become Research Opportunities**

This short presentation is not intended to minimize the logistical and operational challenges and opportunities that each realization poses. Among these are:

- Designing and testing low cost alternatives for achieving ASP/HRC system results
- Designing the heat transfer system to deliver energy captured in the ASP/HRC system to the attached greenhouse/high tunnel
- Engineering a control system for this integrated food production system that optimizes aerations timing for both energy generation and greenhouse heating
- For option 1, restarting the existing heat pumps and configuring the connection between the composting system and the water storage tank
- For all options, exploring the potential to tap into the exhaust vapor stream to "bleed" carbon dioxide into the structure to fertilize plant growth

A number of comparisons could be made between and among these 4 options, but any more detailed analyses at this time and in this document would seem to be premature. The best next step would be to convene a group of interested faculty, staff and students to explore the possibilities and generate proposals for one or more of these options.
## References

Listed by number – these appear throughout the text in brackets - []

- 1 Aber, J. et al. 2020. Agroecosystem Research and the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm https://mypages.unh.edu/agroecosystem/home
- 2 Ahn, H., W. Mulbry, J. White and S Kondrad. 2011. Pile Mixing Increases Greenhouse Gas Emissions during Composting of Dairy Manure. Bioresource Technology 102: 2904–9. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.10.142.
- 3 Amon, B., T. Amon, J. Boxberger and C. Alt. 2001. Emissions of NH3, N2O and CH4 from dairy cows housed in a farmyard manure tying stall (housing, manure storage, manure spreading). Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 60: 103–113
- 4 AMoN. 2012. "Ambient Ammonia Monitoring Network (AMoN) Fact Sheet."
- 5 Baillio, J. 2014. Controls on variability of dissolved greenhouse gas concentration and emissions from small streams in southeastern New Hampshire. Maters Thesis. University of New Hampshire. 101 pp.
- 6 Barnhart, E. 2008. Handbook for the Cape Cod Ark Bioshelter https://newalchemists.files.wordpress.com/2015/02/arkhouse.pdf.
- 7 Beck-Friis, B., S. Smars, H. Jonsson, and H. Kirchmann. 2001. Gaseous Emissions of Carbon Dioxide, Ammonia, and Nitrous Oxide from Organic Household Waste in a Compost Reactor under Different Temperature Regimes. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research 78: 423– 30. doi:10.1006/jaer.2000.0561.
- 8 Bidlingmaier, W, J-M. Sidaine, and E. Papadimitriou. 2004. Separate collection and biological waste treatment in the European Community. Reviews in Environmental Science and Biotechnology 3:307-320.
- 9 Brown, G. 2014. The Compost-Powered Water Heater. Woodstock: The Countryman Press.
- 10 Byrne, K., G. Kiely and P. Leahy. 2007. Carbon Sequestration Determined Using Farm Scale Carbon Balance and Eddy Covariance. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 121: 357–64. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2006.11.015.
- 11 Campbell, J. 2010. Spatial and temporal groundwater recharge patterns in a temperate climate: An investigation at the Burley Demeritt Farm, Lee, NH, Masters Thesis, University of New Hampshire 149 pp.
- 12 Campbell, J., J. Davis, W. McDowell and A. Hristov. 2011. Hydrological and biogeochemical investigation of an agricultural watershed, southeast New Hampshire, USA. Poster Presentation at Annual Meeting of the American Geophysical Union.
- 13 Chen, Y., J. Yin and K. Wang. 2005. Long-term operation of biofilters for biological removal of ammonia. Chemosphere 58:1023-1030
- 14 Cheuk, W., K. Lo, R. Branion, nad B. Fraser. 2003. Benefits of sustainable waste management in the vegetable greenhouse industry. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B 38:855-863.
- 15 Colon, J., J. Martinez-Blanco, X. Gabarrell, J. Rieradevall, X. Font, A. Artola and A. Sanches. 2009. Performance of an industrial biofilter from an composting plant in the removal of ammonia and VOCs after material replacement. Chemical Technology and Biotechnology 84:1111-1117
- 16 Concord Monitor. 2017. Hydroponic greenhouses gets \$25M to grow New England produce https://www.concordmonitor.com/Hydroponic-greenhouses-gets-\$25M-to-grow-New-England-produce-11579789).

- 17 Conservation Physics https://www.conservationphysics.org/atmcalc/atmoclc1.html#svp
- 18 Cornell Composting Science and Engineering http://compost.css.cornell.edu/physics.html19 Cornell Small Farms Program. 2012. Compost Power!
  - https://smallfarms.cornell.edu/2012/10/compost-power/.
- 20 Cornell University. 2015. "The Science of Composting." Cornell Waste Management Institute
- 21 Daley, M. 2015. Non-point nitrogen sources and transport in the Great Bay watershed. Presentation at the Lamprey River Symposium, Durham, NH.
- 22 Dalgaard, T., J. Bienkowski, A. Bleeker, U. Dragosits, J. Drouet, P. Durand and A. Frumau, et al. 2012. Farm Nitrogen Balances in Six European Landscapes as an Indicator for Nitrogen Losses and Basis for Improved Management. Biogeosciences 9: 5303–21. doi:10.5194/bg-9-5303-2012.
- 23 Dalgaard, T., N. Halberg and I. Kristensen. 1998. Can Organic Farming Help to Reduce N-Losses? Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 52: 277–87.
- 24 de Bertoldi, M., G. Vallini, and A. Pera. 1983. The Biology of Compisting: A Review. Waste, Managment & Research 1:157–76.
- 25 de Klein, C., R. Monaghan, M. Alfaro, C. Gourley, O. Oenema and J. Powell. 2017. Nitrogen performance indicators for dairy production systems. Soil Research 55: 479-488. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/SR16349.
- 26 Diver, S. 2001. Compost Heated Greenhouses. ATTRA. https://attra.ncat.org/product/compost-heated-greenhouses/
- 27 Dräger Inc. 2019. Drager sampling tubes and systems. https://www.draeger.com/enus\_us/Applications/Products/Portable-Gas-Detection/Gas-Detection-Tubes/Tubes/Sampling-Tubes-and-Systems
- 28 Dunlap, C. 2010. Seasonal nitrate dynamics in an agriculturally influenced New Hampshire headwater stream. Maters Thesis. University of New Hampshire. 51 pp.
- 29 Engineering Toolbox. 2020. Water vapor and saturation pressure in humid air http://www.engineeringtoolbox.com/water-vapor-saturation-pressure-air-d\_689.html
- 30 Epstein, E. 2011. Industrial composting: Environmental Engineering and Facilities Management, Taylor and Francis Group, LLC, (2011).
- 31 Epstein, E. 2002. Land Application of Sewage Sludge and Biosolids, CRC Press
- 32 Farm to Institution New England https://www.farmtoinstitution.org/about
  33 Food Solutions New England. A New England Food Vision -
- 55 Food Solutions New England. A New England Food Vision https://www.foodsolutionsne.org/sites/default/files/LowResNEFV\_0.pdf
   34 Fukumoto X T Osada D Hanajima and K Haga 2003 Patterns and Quanti
- 34 Fukumoto, Y., T. Osada, D. Hanajima and K. Haga. 2003. Patterns and Quantities of NH3, N2O and CH4 Emissions during Swine Manure Composting without Forced Aeration - Effect of Compost Pile Scale. Bioresource Technology 89: 109–14. doi:10.1016/S0960-8524(03)00060-9.
- 35 Fulford, B. 1990. The Composting Green House at New Alchamy Institute: A Report on Two Years of Operation and Monitoring. BioThermal Associates
- 36 Galloway, J., J. Aber, J. Erisman, S. Seitzinger, R. Howarth, E. Cowling and B. Cosby. 2003. The Nitrogen Cascade. BioScience 53:341-356.
- 37 Galvin, M. 2010. Hydrologic and nutrient dynamics in an agriculturally influenced New England floodplain. Masters Thesis, University of New Hampshire. 102 pp.
- 38 Gea T., A. Artola, X. Sort, and A. Sánchez. 2005. Composting of residuals produced in the Catalan wine industry. Compost science & utilization 13:168-174.

- 39 Gourley, C., S. Aarons and J. Powell. 2012. Nitrogen use efficiency and manure management practices in contrasting dairy production systems. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 147: 73–81
- 40 Green, A. 2009. Herbage mass accumulation in an intensive rotational grazing system at UNH's Organic Dairy Research Facility. Masters thesis, University of New Hampshire, 64p.
- 41 Greenhouse Grower. 2020. Profit to be found in organic greenhouse vegetable production https://www.greenhousegrower.com/production/profit-to-be-found-in-organic-greenhousevegetable-production/
- 42 Haaren, R., N. Themelis, and N. Goldstein. 2010. The state of garbage in America. BioCycle, 51:16-23
- 43 Haug, R. 1993. The Practical Handbook of Compost Engineering. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton.
- 44 Henriksson, M., A. Flysjo, C. Cederberg and C. Swensson. 2011. Variation in Carbon Footprint of Milk due to Management Differences between Swedish Dairy Farms. Animal 1474–84. doi:10.1017/S1751731111000437.
- 45 Hirshberg, G. 1982. The New Alchemy Water Pumping Windmill Book. Brick House Publishing Co., Andover MA
- 46 Hirshberg, G. 1983. Gardening for All Seasons: The Complete Guide to Producing Food At Home 12 Months a Year. Brich House Publishing Co., Andover MA
- 47 Hong, J. and K. Park. 2004. Wood Chip Biofilter Performance of Ammonia Gas from Composting Manure. Compost Science and Utilization 12: 25-29
- 48 Husted, S., 1994. Seasonal variation in methane emissions from stored slurry and solid manures. Journal of Environmental Quality 23:585-592
- 49 Janni, K., R. Nicolai, S. Hoff and R. Stenglein. 2011. Biofilters for Odor and Air Pollution Mitigation in Animal Agriculture. Air Quality Education in Animal Agriculture: 1-9. Print.
- 50 Koenig, L.E., Shattuck, M.D., Snyder, L.E., Potter, J.D. and McDowell, W.H. 2017. Deconstructing the effects of flow on DOC, nitrate, and major ion interactions using a highfrequency aquatic sensor network. Water Resources Research. 53: 10,655–10,673. DOI: 10.1002/2017WR020739.
- 51 Lamb, A.E. 2010. Composting and Sustainability: Trace Gas Yields and Energy Production with Different Materials and Methods. Undergraduate Honors Thesis, University of New Hampshire
- 52 Lasaridi,K., E. Stentiford, and T. Evans. 2000. Windrow composting of wastewater biosolids: process performance and product stability assessment. Water Science and Technology 42:217-226.
- 53 Leach, A. 2018. Addressing the nitrogen challenge: footprint tools and on-farm solutions. Ph.D. thesis, University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH 167pp.
- 54 Ledgard, S., M. Sprosen, J. Penno and G. Rajendram. 2001. Nitrogen fixation by white clover in pastures grazed by dairy cows: Temporal variation and effects of nitrogen fertilization. Plant and Soil 229:177-187
- 55 Leip, A., W. Britz, F. Weiss and W. de Vries. 2011. Farm, Land, and Soil Nitrogen Budgets for Agriculture in Europe Calculated with CAPRI. Environmental Pollution 159: 3243–53. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2011.01.040.
- 56 Ling, J. and S. Chen. 2005. Impact of organic carbon on nitrification performance of different biofilters. Aquacultural Engineering 33:150-162

- 57 Mason, I. 2006. Mathematical modelling of the composting process: a review. Waste management 26: 3-21.
- 58 Mason, I. and M. Milke. 2005. Physical modelling of the composting environment: A review. Part 1: Reactor systems. Waste management 25: 481-500.
- 59 Mason, I. and M. Milke. 2005. Physical modelling of the composting environment: A review. Part 2: Simulation performance. Waste Management 25: 501-509.
- 60 Mathsen, D. 2004. Evaluating compost and biofilter aeration performance. Biocycle 45: 20-25.
- 61 McDowell, W.H., M.D. Shattuck, J. Potter and R. Brereton. 2019. Groundwater and Stream Water Chemistry. Organic Dairy Research Update Meeting, University of New Hampshire. April 10, 2019.
- 62 Merriam, J., W. H. McDowell, and W. S. Currie. 1996. A high-temperature catalytic oxidation technique for determining total dissolved nitrogen. Soil Science Society of America Journal60:1050–1055
- 63 Meyer, A. 2014. Response of ammonium uptake to carbon availability in an agriculturally influenced first order stream. Maters Thesis. University of New Hampshire. 50 pp.
- 64 Modern Farmer. 2020. The Current State of Agricultural Education https://modernfarmer.com/2018/01/the-current-state-of-agricultural-education/
- 65 Nanda, S., P. Sarangi and J. Abraham. 2012. Microbial biofiltration technology for odour abatement: and introductory review. Journal of Soil Science and Environmental Management 32:28-35
- 66 New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station. 2014. Researchers investigation hydroponics use to meet winter produce demand https://www.colsa.unh.edu/nhaes/article/hydroponics
- 67 Nicolai, R. and K. Janni. 2001. Determining Pressure Drop Through Compost-Wood Chip Biofilter Media. Paper number 014080, 2001 ASAE Annual Meeting. (doi: 10.13031/2013.7460) @2001
- 68 NOAA/ESRL. 2016. Trends in Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide. http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/global.html.
- 69 Oenema, O., H. Kros and W. De Vries. 2003. Approaches and Uncertainties in Nutrient Budgets: Implications for Nutrient Management and Environmental Policies. European Journal of Agronomy 20: 3–16. doi:10.1016/S1161-0301(03)00067-4.
- 70 Pace, M., B. Miller, K. Farrell-Poe, and M. Miller. 1995. "The Composting Process." Utah State University Extension Publications, Paper 48.
- 71 Pagans, E, X. Font and A. Sanchez. 2005. Biofiltration for ammonia removal from composting exhaust gases. Chemical Engineering Journal 113:105-110.
- 72 Park, K., M. Choi and J. Hong. 2002. Control of Composting Odor Using Biofiltration. Compost Science & Utilization 10: 356-62. Web. 3 June 2016.
- 73 PBS. 2020. Find a farmers market near you https://www.pbs.org/food/features/farmersmarket-listings
- 74 Peigné, J., and P. Girardin. 2004. Environmental Impacts of Farm-Scale Composting Practices. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 153: 45–68. doi:10.1023/B:WATE.0000019932.04020.b6.
- 75 Potier. B. 2005. University of New Hampshire Media Relations. https://scholars.unh.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2326&context=news
- 76 Potier, B. 2006. First Heifer Born At Nation's First University Organic Research Dairy. UNH Today https://scholars.unh.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2284&context=news
- 77 RAE Systems. 2013. Gas Detection Tubes and Sampling Handbook. Second Edition San Jose, CA.

- 78 Reeves, D. 1997. The Role of Soil Organic Matter in Maintaining Soil Quality in Continuous Cropping Systems. Soil & Tillage Research 43: 131–67. doi:10.1016/s0167-1987(97)00038-x.
- 79 Rivero, C., T. Chirenje, L. Ma, and G. Martinez. 2004. Influence of Compost on Soil Organic Matter Quality under Tropical Conditions. Geoderma 123: 355–61. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.03.002.
- 80 Ryals, R. and W. Silver. 2013. Effects of Organic Matter Amendments on Net Primary Productivity and Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Annual Grasslands. Ecological Applications 23: 46–59.
- 81 Ryckeboer, J., J. Mergaert, K. Vaes, S. Klammer, D. Clercq, J. Coosemans, H. Insam, and J. Swings. 2003. A Survey of Bacteria and Fungi Occurring during Composting and Self-Heating Processes. Annals of Microbiology 53 (4): 349–410.
- 82 Rynk, R., M. van de Kamp, G. Willson, M. Singley, T. Richard, J. Kolega, F. Couin, L. Laliberty, D. Kay, D. Murphy, H. Hoitink, and W. Brinton. 1992. On- Farm Composting Handbook. Ithaca, NY: Northeast Regional Agricultural Engineering Service (NRAES-54). 186 p.
- 83 Shen, Y., L. Ren, G. Li, T. Chen, and R. Guo. 2011. Influence of Aeration on CH4, N2O and NH3 Emissions during Aerobic Composting of a Chicken Manure and High C/N Waste Mixture. Waste Management 31: 33–38. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2010.08.019.
- 84 Simms, L., M. Smith, J. Alvez, J. Colby, and J. Aber. 2015. Alternatives for rising bedding costs in New England dairies. Dairy Briefs Vol. 62 (Winter). University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension, Durham, NH.
- 85 Smith M. and J. Aber. 2015. Heat extraction & utilization from composting as an alternative to anaerobic digestion for reducing energy costs at dairy farms. UNH Dairy Report 2015: New Hampshire Agricultural Experiment Station and University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension; 2015 pp. 33-35.
- 86 Smith, M, C. Park, C. Andam and J. Aber. 2018. Utilization of low grade wood for use as animal bedding: A case study of eastern hemlock. Journal of Forestry 116:520-528
- 87 Smith, M. 2016. Creating an economically viable, closed-system, energy-independent diary farm through on-farm production of animal bedding and heat capture from an aerated static pile heat recovery composting system. Ph.D. Thesis, University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH 269pp.
- 88 Smith, M. and J. Aber. 2014. Heat recovery from Compost. BioCycle 55:26-28
- 89 Smith, M. and J. Aber. 2014. Heat recovery from compost: A guide to building an aerated static pile heat recovery composting facility. Durham, NH: University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension; Research Report. 81 p.
- 90 Smith, M. and J. Aber. 2017. Heat Recovery from Compost: A Step-by-Step Guide on Building an Aerated Static Pile Heat Recovery Compost Facility. University of New Hampshire Cooperative Extension, Durham, NH. 72pp.
- 91 Smith, M. and J. Aber. 2017. Recover energy from composting to heat water on farms. Progressive Dairyman 19:61-63 and Progressive Dairyman Canada. 3:63-65.
- 92 Smith, M. and J. Aber. 2018. Energy Recovery from Commercial-Scale Composting as a Novel Waste Management Strategy. Applied Energy 211:194-199
- 93 Smith, M., C. Simms and J. Aber. 2017. Animal bedding cost and somatic cell count across New England dairy farms: Relationship with bedding material, housing type, herd size, and management system. The Professional Animal Scientist 33:616-626

- 94 Smith, M., J. Aber and R. Rynk. 2015. Heat recovery from composting a comprehensive review. International Composting Conference. Beijing, China. October 2015
- 95 Smith, M., J. Aber and R. Rynk. 2017. Heat recovery from composting a comprehensive review of system design, recovery rate and utilization. Compost Science and Utilization 25 (sup1) S11-S22.
- 96 Smith, M., J. Aber and T. Howard. 2017. Economic viability of producing animal bedding from low quality and small diameter trees using a wood shaving machine. The Professional Animal Scientist 33:771-779
- 97 Sneath, R., F.Beline, M.A.Hilhorst and P.Peu. 2006. Monitoring GHG from manure stores on organic and conventional dairy farms. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 112:122-128
- 98 Sommer, S., M. Christensen, T. Schmidt and L. Jensen (eds.). 2013. Animal Manure Recycling. John Wiley & Sons Ltd. 363 pp.
- 99 Steinfeld, H. and P. Gerber. 2010. Livestock Production and the Global Environment: Consume Less or Produce Better?. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107: 18237–38. doi:10.1073/pnas.1012541107.
- 100 Strolling of the Heifers. 2019. Locavore Index 2019 https://www.strollingoftheheifers.com/locavore/
- 101 Szanto, G., H. Hamelers, W. Rulkens and A. Veeken. 2007. NH3, N2O and CH4 Emissions during Passively Aerated Composting of Straw-Rich Pig Manure. Bioresource Technology 98: 2659–70. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2006.09.021.
- 102 Takahashi , Y., T. Chinushi , Y. Nagumo , T. and T. Ohyama. 1991. Effect of deep placement of controlled release nitrogen fertilizer (coatedurea) on growth, yield, and nitrogen fixation of soybean plants. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 37: 223-231, DOI: 10.1080/00380768.1991.10415032
- 103 Tilman, D., K. Cassman, P. Matson, R. Naylor, and S. Polasky. 2002. Agricultural Sustainability and Intensive Production Practices. Nature 418: 671–77.
- 104 Tucker, M. 2006. Extracting thermal energy from composting. BioCycle 47:38.
- 105 Tuomela, M., M. Vikman, A. Hatakka, and M. Itävaara. 2000. Biodegradation of Lignin in a Compost Environment: A Review. Bioresource Technology 72: 169–83. doi:10.1016/S0960-8524(99)00104-2.
- 106 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2019. Overview of greenhouse gases: Methane Emissions - https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/overview-greenhouse-gases
- 107 U.S. EPA Method 350.1; https://www.epa.gov/esam/epa-method-3501-determinationammonia-nitrogen-semi-automated-colorimetry
- 108 University of Maine. Umaine News. 2013. Umaine opens new campus composting facility https://umaine.edu/news/blog/2013/01/14/plate-to-plant/
- 109 University of New Hampshire EPSCoR Data Discovery Center https://ddc.unh.edu/
- 110 University of New Hampshire Extension Expand your tunnel vision II: 2018 high tunnel conference https://extension.unh.edu/blog/2018-high-tunnel-conference-presentations-available
- 111 University of New Hampshire Newsroom. 2011. New sustainable agriculture program shapes future of food. https://www.unh.edu/unhtoday/news/release/2011/02/09/new-sustainable-agriculture-program-shapes-future-food
- 112 University of New Hampshire Office of Woodlands and Natural Areas. 2016. Burley-Demeritt and Dudley Lot Management and Operations Plan - Original 2010 – Update 2016

- 113 University of New Hampshire Sustainability Institute. 2020. UNH is STARS Platinum https://sustainableunh.unh.edu/awards
- 114 US Department of Agriculture, Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education Program. 2020. High tunnels and other season extension techniques - https://www.sare.org/Learning-Center/Topic-Rooms/High-Tunnels-and-Other-Season-Extension-Techniques
- 115 US Department of Agriculture. 2019. 2017 Census of Agriculture https://www.nass.usda.gov/AgCensus/index.php
- 116 US EPA Method 300.1; https://www.epa.gov/esam/epa-method-3001-revision-10determination-inorganic-anions-drinking-water-ion-chromatography
- 117 USDA (US Department of Agriculture). 2017. Census of Agriculture. Washington, DC
- 118 Watson, C. and D. Atkinson. 1999. Using Nitrogen Budgets to Indicate Nitrogen Use Efficiency and Losses from Whole Farm Systems : A Comparison of Three Methodological Approaches. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 53: 259–67.
- 119 Webster, N, and C. Alloway. 2012. Optimizing a Large Scale Biofilter Treating Compost Exhaust Air. Proceedings of the Water Environment Federation 2012: 570-84.
- 120 Wei, Y. et al. 2000. Control modes of aeration for composting systems. Chinese Journal of Environmental Science 21: 101-104.
- 121 Wright, L. 2014. UNH Names Innovative Composting Facility after Sustainable Agriculture Pioneer - https://www.colsa.unh.edu/nhaes/article/unh-names-innovative-composting-facilityafter-sustainable-agriculture-pioneer
- 122 Zhu, N. et al. 2004. Performance characteristics of three aeration systems in the swine manure composting. Bioresource Technology 95: 319-326.
- 123 Zuidema, S. 2014. Water and nitrogen export from the UNH Organic Dairy Research Farm, Lee, New Hampshire. Presentation at the Lamprey River Symposium, Durham, NH.

## **Additional references**

The sources were accessed by authors but not quoted or cited in the text – presented here in case they prove useful to readers

- Brown, S., C. Kruger and S. Subler. 2002. Greenhouse Gas Balance for Composting Operations. Journal of Environmental Quality 37: 1396–1410. doi:10.2134/jeq2007.0453.
- Buscot, F. and A. Varma. 2005. Microorganisms in Soils: Roles in Genesis and Functions. Springer.
- Cornell University. 2015. The Science of Composting. Cornell Waste Management Institute, Cornell University. doi:10.2134/jeq1998.00472425002700010039x.
- Fangmeier, A, A. Hadwiger-Fangmeier, L. Van der Eerden and H. Jäger. 1994. Effects of Atmospheric Ammonia on Vegetation--a Review. Environmental Pollution 86: 43–82. doi:10.1016/0269-7491(94)90008-6.
- Florida Online Composting Center.2020 Elements of Composting. Sarasota County Government Environmental Services Business Center Solid Waste Division, Resource Conservation Section. http://www.compostinfo.com/tutorial/ElementOfComposting.htm#CNRatio.
- Gebert, J., and A. Gröngröft. 2006. "Performance of a Passively Vented Field-Scale Biofilter for the Microbial Oxidation of Landfill Methane." Waste Management 26 (4): 399–40a doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2005.11.007.

- He, Y., Y. Inamori, M.Yuhei, M. Mizuochi, H. Kong, N. Iwami and T. Sun. 2000. Measurements of N2O and CH4 from the aerated composting of food waste. The Science of the Total Environment 254: 1, 65-74.
- Holmer, M. and E. Kristensen. 1994. Coexistence of sulfate reduction and methane production in an organic-rich sediment. Marine Ecology Progress Series 107: 177-184.
- Johnson, C., et al. 2005. Agronomy Fact Sheet Series: Nitrogen Basics The Nitrogen Cycle. Cornell University Cooperative Extension - http://nmsp.css.cornell.edu
- Krupa, S.V. 2003. Effects of Atmospheric Ammonia (NH3) on Terrestrial Vegetation: A Review. Environmental Pollution 124: 179–221. doi:10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00434-7.
- Lasaridi, K., E. Stentiford and T. Evans. 2000. Windrow composting of wastewater biosolids: process performance and product stability assessment. Water Science and Technology 42: 217-226.
- Long, S., E. Ainsworth, A. Rogers and D. Ort. 2004. Rising Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide: Plants FACE the Future. Annual Review of Plant Biology 55: 591–628. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.55.031903.141610.
- Melse, R. and A. Van Der Werf. 2005. Biofiltration for Mitigation of Methane Emission from Animal Husbandry. Environmental Science and Technology 39: 5460–68. doi:10.1021/es048048q.
- Misra, R., R. Roy and H. Hiraoka. 2003. On-Farm Composting Methods. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. ISSN 1729-0554. Rome, Italy.
- Mortensen, L. 1987. Review: CO2 Enrichment in Greenhouses. Crop Responses. Scientia Horticulturae 33: 1–25. doi:10.1016/0304-4238(87)90028-8.
- Neher, D., et al. 2013. Changes in bacterial and fungal communities across compost recipes, preparation methods, and composting times. PLoS One 8: e79512.
- Neher, D., T. Weicht, S. Bates, J. Leff and N. Fierer. 2013. Changes in bacterial and fungal communities across compost recipes, preparation methods, and composting times. PLoS One 8: e79512.
- Pagans, E., R. Barrena, X. Font and A. Sánchez. 2006. Ammonia Emissions from the Composting of Different Organic Wastes. Dependency on Process Temperature. Chemosphere 62: 1534– 42. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.06.044.
- Paillat, J., P. Robin, M. Hassouna and P. Leterme. 2005. Predicting Ammonia and Carbon Dioxide Emissions from Carbon and Nitrogen Biodegradability during Animal Waste Composting. Atmospheric Environment 39: 6833–42. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.07.045.
- Pain, I., and J. Pain. 1972. The Methods of Jean Pain: Another Kind of Garden. Draguignan: Ancienne Imprimerie NEGRO.
- Pelletier, N. and P. Tyedmers. 2010. Forecasting Potential Global Environmental Costs of Livestock Production 2000-2050. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107: 18371–74. doi:10.1073/pnas.1004659107.
- Rosenfeld, P., M. Grey and P. Sellew. 2004. Measurement of Biosolids Compost Odor Emissions from a Windrow, Static Pile, and Biofilter. Water Environment Research 76: 310–15. doi:10.2175/106143004X141898.
- Scholtens, R., C. Dore, B. Jones, D. Lee and V. Phillips. 2004. Measuring Ammonia Emission Rates from Livestock Buildings and Manure Stores - Part 1: Development and Validation of External Tracer Ratio, Internal Tracer Ratio and Passive Flux Sampling Methods. Atmospheric Environment 38: 3003–15. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2004.02.030.

- Stafford, D., D. Hawkes and R. Horton. 1980. Methane production from waste organic matter. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Thassitou, P. and I. Arvanitoyannis. 2001. Bioremediation: a novel approach to food waste management. Trends in Food Science & Technology 12:185-196.
- Triumpho, Richard. 2009. From Compost to Energy. Farming: The Journal of Northeast Agriculture. 18 February 2009 - http://www.farmingmagazine.com/article.php?id=2509
- Van Der Eerden, L., P. De Visser and C. Van Dijk. 1998. Risk of Damage to Crops in the Direct Neighbourhood of Ammonia Sources. Environmental Pollution 102: 49–53. doi:10.1016/S0269-7491(98)80014-6.
- Van Horn, H., et al. 1990. Dairy Manure Management: Strategies for Recycling Nutrients to Recover Fertilizer Value & Avoid Environmental Pollution. The Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences. University of Florida Cooperative Extension.
- Wei, Y., Y. Fan and M. Wang. 2001. A cost analysis of sewage sludge composting for small and mid-scale municipal wastewater treatment plants. Resources, conservation and recycling 33: 203-216.